

Georgia Southern University Digital Commons@Georgia Southern

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Jack N. Averitt College of Graduate Studies

Spring 2022

Examining Practitioners' Perspectives On Access To Professional Psychological Help For Division I Male **Athletes**

Nicole Vana

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd



Part of the Other Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Vana, Nicole, "Examining Practitioners' Perspectives On Access To Professional Psychological Help For Division I Male Athletes" (2022). Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 2417.

https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd/2417

This thesis (open access) is brought to you for free and open access by the Jack N. Averitt College of Graduate Studies at Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@georgiasouthern.edu.

EXAMINING PRACTITIONERS' PERSPECTIVES ON ACCESS TO PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGICAL HELP FOR DIVISION I MALE ATHLETES

by

NICOLE VANA

(Under the Direction of Megan Byrd)

ABSTRACT

Male athletes are less likely than female athletes to seek out support services (Barnard, 2016) despite experiencing a myriad of clinical and subclinical concerns including depression (Davoren & Hwang, 2014; Wolanin et al., 2016), anxiety (Davoren & Hwang, 2014), eating disorders (Joy et al., 2016; Sundgot-Borgen & Torstveit, 2004), and substance use (NCAA, 2018). To combat the increasing rates of mental health concerns, support services are becoming more readily available for collegiate athletes (Moore, 2016). However, despite the recent effort in increasing athlete mental health support, many male athletes in particular remain reluctant to seek out such services (Barnard, 2016). Prior research has focused extensively on prevalence rates of mental health-related concerns and help-seeking barriers that prevent collegiate athletes from seeking out help (Gulliver et al., 2012; Yousaf et al., 2015), yet research remains nonexistent in exploring these areas in male collegiate athletes from a practitioner's perspective. Thus, the present study expanded on previous research by examining the experiences of 10 National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Division I practitioners working with male athletes and what strategies are most effective in making support services more accessible for them. A generic qualitative approach was employed and three major themes were identified: (a) presenting concerns, (b) influences to help-seeking, and (c) strategies to increase accessibility. The results of the study indicate that male collegiate athletes present with a number of mental health- and sport-related concerns, but are more likely to seek out support for sport-related concerns. Furthermore, several help-seeking influences, including barriers and facilitators, affect a male athletes' willingness to seek out such services including stigma, coach and sport environment, cultural factors, lack of time and flexibility, and the source of referral. Strategies to address the aforementioned influences include destigmatization, coach training, practitioner

diversity, service awareness and education, relationship building, and additional practitioners. Practical implications and recommendations for future research are also discussed.
INDEX WORDS: Mental health, Help-seeking behaviors, Male collegiate athletes, Mental health services

EXAMINING PRACTITIONERS' PERSPECTIVES ON ACCESS TO PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGICAL HELP FOR DIVISION I MALE ATHLETES

by

NICOLE VANA

B.S., Nebraska Wesleyan University, 2018

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia Southern University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE
WATERS COLLEGE OF HEALTH PROFESSIONS

© 2022 NICOLE VANA All Rights Reserved

EXAMINING PRACTITIONERS' PERSPECTIVES ON ACCESS TO PROFESSIONAL PSYCHOLOGICAL HELP FOR DIVISION I MALE ATHLETES

by

NICOLE VANA

Major Professor: Megan Byrd
Committee: Brandonn Harris
Pamela Wells

Electronic Version Approved: May 2022

DEDICATION

This project is dedicated to every athlete out there who is silently suffering.

You are never alone.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Dr. Byrd, Dr. Harris, and Dr. Wells, thank you for embarking on this whirlwind of a journey with me and for allowing me to pursue the topic I am most passionate about. Megan, thank you for all of the time you invested into me and into this project. You have always challenged me to be better and because of you, I am. Brandonn, thank you for always believing in me and for your unwavering commitment to helping me succeed as a researcher, as a student, as a professional in the field, and as a person. Pam, thank you for taking on this project with open arms. I am beyond thankful for all of the insight and support you granted me with.

To Mom and Dad, thank you for always being my #1 fans. There are not enough words in the world to express just how grateful I am for the both of you. You have always supported me in following my dreams and without you, I would have never been able to complete something like this. From the bottom of my heart, thank you for everything. I love you.

To Rocky, thank you for being the most loyal companion that I could always count on whenever I felt a little bit overwhelmed or stressed during this process. You deserve all the peanut butter in the world.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	3
LIST OF TABLES	5
CHAPTER	
1 INTRODUCTION	6
Purpose of the Study	13
2 METHODS	15
Study Design	15
Participants	15
Procedure	16
Instrumentation	18
Data Analysis	19
Trustworthiness	20
3 RESULTS	24
Presenting Concerns	24
Influences to Help-Seeking	28
Strategies to Increase Accessibility	39
4 DISCUSSION	55
Key Findings	55
Practical Implications	67
Limitations	69
Future Directions	69
Conclusion	70
REFERENCES	71
APPENDICES	
A REVIEW OF LITERATURE	100
B EMAIL SCRIPT	134
C LISTSERV SCRIPT	135
D INFORMED CONSENT	136
E INTERVIEW GUIDE	139

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1: Participant Demographic Information.	23

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Male athletes comprise of just over half (53%) of the overall National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Division I population (NCAA, 2018). Despite college sports having a positive impact on athletes' overall well-being including an increase in self-esteem, confidence, social support, and connectedness (Armstrong et al., 2015), Wahto et al. (2016) found that as many as one in four collegiate athletes "suffer from psychological distress at a level indicative of a need for psychological services" (p. 86). Previous research indicates that collegiate athletes are at risk for experiencing a myriad of mental health-related struggles at similar rates of non-athletes, despite being less likely to seek out professional help (Watson, 2005). Within the collegiate athlete population, Division I athletes are less comfortable seeking out mental health services than are Division II and III athletes (Moore, 2016), and male athletes are less likely to seek out help than female athletes (Barnard, 2016). However, research remains nonexistent regarding what specific strategies can help Division I male athletes more easily access professional psychological services.

Male Athletes and Mental Health

Clinical Concerns

Clinical mental health-related concerns including depression, anxiety, and eating disorders are among the most prevalent in college athletics (Beals & Manore, 2002; Weigand et al., 2013; Wolanin et al., 2016). Thus, the following will describe the impact that each has as it relates to the male collegiate athlete population in particular.

Collegiate athletes are at an increased risk for depression compared to the general student population due to the combination of physical and psychological pressures that they experience

(Mummary, 2005). Despite prior studies extensively examining the prevalence rates of depression in both male and female collegiate athletes combined, there remains a limited number of studies that have explored the frequency of depression in male collegiate athletes alone. In one such study, Proctor and Boan-Lenzo (2010) investigated the prevalence rates of depressive symptoms in 66 male intercollegiate athletes from a Division I institution and the researchers found that 15.6% of the athletes met the criteria for clinical depression. Davoren and Hwang (2014) reviewed data from eight National College Health Assessment surveys. In total, 19,733 collegiate athletes completed the surveys and results revealed that 21% of the male athlete respondents reported experiencing depressive symptoms within the past 12 months. While female athletes are more likely to suffer from depression (Yang et al., 2007), male athletes have a higher tendency to underreport symptoms (Lebrun et al., 2018) and are less likely to utilize support services (Barnard, 2016). Furthermore, Rao et al. (2015) found that male collegiate athletes are at higher risk for suicide than female athletes.

The American College of Sports Medicine (2021) found that approximately 25% of male collegiate athletes report having anxiety. Beyond this, little remains known regarding the frequency of clinical anxiety disorders experienced by male Division I collegiate athletes specifically. However, when taking into account both male and female athletes, previous research estimates that both groups experience anxiety anywhere between six percent in clinical diagnoses (Schaal et al., 2011) to nearly 15% in self-report measures (Du Preez et al., 2017). Furthermore, approximately 85% of certified athletic trainers report that they believe anxiety disorders are a significant concern within the collegiate athlete population (Goldman, 2014). In turn, anxiety disorders in athletes may be further exacerbated by sport-related factors, such as the

pressure to perform well (Hodge & Smith, 2014) and the experience of an injury (Gouttebarge et al., 2016).

In addition to anxiety, eating disorders are a clinical mental health concern existent within the male athlete population. Despite male athletes experiencing overall lower prevalence rates of eating disorders than female athletes, Sundgot-Borgen and Torstveit (2004) found that eating disorders are more prevalent in the male athlete population (8%) when compared to the male non-athlete population (0.5%). Parallel to these findings, Joy et al. (2016) reports that male athletes are more likely to suffer from an eating disorder when compared to male non-athletes. Baum (2006) suggests that particular categories of sport may carry a higher risk for athletes in developing an eating disorder, including sports where athletes need to make a particular weight in order to compete (e.g., wrestling), sports that consider low body fat as advantageous for reaching optimal performance (e.g., cross country), and sports that consider aesthetics to be an important factor in the judging process (e.g., gymnastics). Congruent with these findings, Chatterton and Petrie (2013) examined 732 male collegiate athletes and found that those who participated in weight class sports (i.e., wrestling) were more likely to engage in disordered eating and weight control behaviors.

Based on previous research, it is evident that clinical mental health concerns that warrant the need for professional help exist within the male collegiate athlete population. While male athletes are less likely to experience such concerns when compared to female athletes, they are also less likely to seek out these mental health services (Barnard, 2016).

Subclinical Concerns

In addition to clinical mental health-related concerns, there are a number of subclinical concerns that collegiate athletes face that may require the utilization of support services,

including substance use and excessive stress stemming from academic pressures, athletic demands, and relationships with others.

Substance use is more prevalent in the collegiate athlete population when compared to the non-athlete population (Brisola-Santos et al., 2016; Ford, 2007; Yusko et al., 2008). Collegiate athletes may initially decide to engage in substance use behaviors for a number of reasons, including to help increase self-confidence, to fit in socially, and to produce feelings of pleasure (Baron, 2013; McDuff & Baron, 2005). Male athletes in particular are more likely than female athletes to engage in substance use behaviors such as binge drinking, marijuana consumption, and cocaine use (NCAA, 2018; Ntoumanis, et al., 2014). In some cases, athletes who engage in long-term substance use may inherit a dependency on it which may result in a diagnosable clinical concern (Baron, 2013; McDuff & Baron, 2005).

Fogaca et al. (2019) found that collegiate athletes experience several stressors that, if left unmanaged, may lead to further mental health concerns. These stressors include academic pressures (Humphrey et al., 2000; Hwang & Choi, 2016), athletic demands (Gulliver et al., 2012; Humphrey et al., 2000; Kimball & Freysinger, 2003), and relationships with others (Humphrey et al., 2000; Wilson & Pritchard, 2005). Academic-related pressures, such as having to maintain good grades to stay eligible to play in one's sport, are a commonly-reported stressor amongst collegiate athletes (Hwang & Choi, 2016). More specifically, many athletes express feeling as though there is not enough time given to them to be able to balance both athletics and academics and perform their best in both (Humphrey et al., 2000). Collegiate athletes also report experiencing stress related to their sport. Humphrey et al. (2000) found that more than half of both male and female athletes in their study considered sport-related demands to be stressinducing, with the greatest stressor being the pressure that they feel to win and perform well in

their sport. Finally, collegiate athletes also experience stress regarding their inability to find time for social interactions with individuals outside of their sport, including friends and family (Watson & Kissinger, 2007). Despite having close relationships with coaches and teammates, previous research highlights the desire that Division I athletes have towards making friends and building relationships with individuals outside of their sport (Pacific 12 Conference, 2015).

Male Athletes and Help-Seeking Behaviors

With an increase in mental health awareness among athletes, support services are becoming more readily available for NCAA Division I athletes than ever before (Moore, 2016). Support staff members at the Division I level have expanded to include nutritionists, academic advisors, tutors, sport psychology professionals, clinical psychologists, and psychiatrists. Due to the growing number of support staff on athletic teams, some athletes may feel unsure of who to turn to for certain concerns. To exemplify this, one athlete in Gulliver et al.'s (2012) study reported that, "The psychologists here are sport psychologists, sometimes things that happen away from sport you're not sure whether you can go and see them about that, or is that an issue for a counselor" (p. 7). For those athletes that do decide to pursue mental health services, previous research has found a number of benefits including stress reduction, a decrease in feelings of burnout, an increase in self-regulation, and an improvement in overall well-being (Dubuc-Charbonneau & Durand-Bush, 2015). Despite all of the potential advantages that seeking out professional help can offer athletes, there remains a high number of those who are reluctant to do so (Watson, 2005). Moreover, Bird et al. (2018) found that collegiate athletes prefer to ask for help from a close family member or a sport-specific professional, such as an athletic trainer, instead of a mental health professional, such as a counselor. As López and Levy (2013) suggested, this may be due to athletes preferring to seek out help from individuals who

have a greater familiarity with and understanding of their daily lives and struggles as a collegiate athlete. Furthermore, collegiate athletes face a variety of help-seeking barriers that may prevent them from accessing support services altogether.

Barriers Toward Help-Seeking

One of the most significant help-seeking barriers identified by athletes is that of stigma (Gulliver et al., 2012), including public stigma and self-stigma (Wahto et al., 2016). Martin et al. (1997) found that NCAA Division I male athletes were more likely than female athletes to predict that they would experience stigmatization for seeking help for mental health-related concerns. This is supported by Watson's (2006) findings that revealed that male athletes are more likely to experience higher levels of self-stigma, including maintaining more negative views toward professional psychological help-seeking.

Due to student-athletes' demanding schedules, research has found a lack of time to seek out professional services to be a subsequent help-seeking barrier. In a study conducted by López and Levy (2013), 165 NCAA Division I athletes completed a Barriers to Help-Seeking Checklist (Givens & Tija, 2002) in which they reported a lack of time to seek out support services as the most significant barrier. Furthermore, in 2016, the NCAA reported that an average Division I athlete is spending 34 hours per week on their sport in-season in addition to another 38.5 hours per week on academics. Thus, collegiate athletes have very little time and flexibility to seek out professional services, especially if those services are only offered during regular business hours (López & Levy, 2013; Watson, 2006).

Previous research also recognizes a lack of mental health literacy as a deterrent to help-seeking for collegiate athletes. More specifically, athletes may not have an accurate understanding of what symptoms are indicative of a clinical mental health concern, they may

possess little knowledge regarding what services are available to them on their campuses and how to access them, and they may not understand what a mental health consultation consists of (Gulliver et al., 2012). For example, LeViness et al. (2018) found that out of 950 Division I athletes, more than a quarter of them did not know where or how to access mental health services at their university.

Hughes and Coakley (1991) identified a term known as "the sport ethic" as an additional help-seeking barrier which describes society's expectations of what it means to be a "real athlete", including playing through pain and showing no signs of weakness. Similarly, Brown (2014) described a heavily influential "sports culture" that many athletes identify with which encompasses expectations of strength, stability, and mental toughness. Consequently, athletes who identify closely with the sport ethic may feel as though they are infringing upon the norms of their sport by asking for help and seeking out support services.

Finally, men's masculinity ideals are a significant barrier for male athletes in particular (Yousaf et al., 2015). Growing up, many young boys are socialized to believe that showing pain, either physical or emotional, is a sign of weakness in which they must bury and hide instead (Sabo, 1988). DeLenardo and Terrion (2014) found that football players carry out similar behaviors. For example, one athlete reported that he intentionally hid his concussion-like symptoms from the athletic trainers while another reported taking several painkillers just to be able to play (DeLenardo & Terrion, 2014). In general, Berger et al. (2013) found that men who adhere more to masculine norms and characteristics, such as stoicism and dominance, tend to have more negative perceptions toward professional psychological help-seeking.

Professional Psychological Help

Support services are becoming increasingly available for collegiate athletes thanks to recent legislation passed by the NCAA that requires all Division I Power 5 conference institutions to ensure athletes' access to mental health services (Hosick, 2019). While it remains unclear on the type and number of practitioners employed at the collegiate level, studies have begun to explore the preferences and implementation of such services in university settings. For example, Connole et al. (2014) examined 478 NCAA athletic administrators' preferred characteristics for sport psychology professionals at their university and found that nearly half (43.8%) of them preferred service options to include both performance enhancement and mental health. When examining the prevalence and utilization of sport psychology services in athletic departments, Voight and Callaghan (2001) found that more than half (51 out of 96) of Division I universities employed these professionals at their school to some degree (either part- or fulltime). Kornspan and Duve (2006) expanded on Voight and Callaghan's (2001) study by exploring sport psychology use in 286 NCAA Division I, II, and III university settings and found that nearly a quarter (24%) of the athletic departments indicated a utilization of support services, with most being in Division I university settings (Kornspan & Duve, 2006). In a separate study, Hayden et al. (2013) conducted a content analysis of 120 NCAA Division I universities' websites to determine how many of them used sport psychology services, either embedded in athletic departments or counseling centers. Their findings indicated that 39 schools provided such services to collegiate athletes, with a majority of them being in athletic departments (87.2%) when compared to counseling centers (5%).

Purpose of the Study

While previous research has begun to analyze mental health service utilization and availability for collegiate athletes from the vantage points of administrators (Cannole et al.,

2014), athletic departments (Kornspan & Duve, 2006; Voight & Callaghan, 2001), and university athletics and counseling center websites (Hayden et al., 2013), very few studies have explored these topics from a mental health and/or sport psychology practitioners' perspective. More specifically, only one study to date has explored practitioners' viewpoints and experiences working with collegiate athletes and their access to mental health services (Schlimmer & Chin, 2019). As Way (2021) suggests, the benefits of examining such perspectives "could be an untapped source of information regarding the mental health needs of student-athletes and the extent to which these needs are currently being met" (p. 2). Thus, the current study expands on previous research by examining the perspectives of those who work most closely with male athletes, the practitioners. Through exploring the experiences of these practitioners, one can better understand what strategies can be undertaken to increase accessibility and utilization of support services for male collegiate athletes. Accordingly, the following research questions were posed: (1) what are the experiences of licensed practitioners working with male Division I athletes suffering with mental health-related concerns, and (2) what steps can be taken to help male Division I athletes more easily access professional psychological help services? The information gathered from this study can be used to provide sport psychology professionals and university athletic departments with strategies to employ on their campuses to help male athletes more easily access support services.

CHAPTER 2

METHODS

Study Design

A generic qualitative approach was used to explore practitioners' experiences working with Division I male athletes and their perspectives on what strategies can be applied on university campuses to increase accessibility to mental health services for male athletes. As described by Percy et al. (2015), a qualitative study employing a generic approach is used when participants' subjective opinions, attitudes, beliefs, or experiences are being examined. Previous research has focused extensively on the prevalence rates of various mental health concerns that collegiate athletes commonly face and the barriers that prevent them from seeking out professional psychological help, yet there remains a lack of research that explores specifically how these barriers can be combatted, particularly for the Division I male athlete population. Thus, by using a generic qualitative method, we are able to gain a better understanding from practitioners' experiences into what steps can be taken to increase accessibility to support services for male collegiate athletes across the country.

Participants

Participants comprised of practitioners embedded in NCAA Division I university athletic departments and counseling centers. In order to be eligible for participation in this study, practitioners were required to meet each of the following criteria: (a) must maintain an active licensure in counseling (e.g., Licensed Professional Counselor) or psychology (e.g., Licensed Psychologist) in their state of employment, (b) must have a current certification status as a Certified Mental Performance Consultant (CMPC), (c) must have at least one year of direct

experience working with NCAA Division I male athletes, and (d) must be currently employed at an NCAA Division I institution at the time of participation. Practitioners who did not meet all four criteria were ineligible to participate in the study. In total, 58 participants were recruited to take part in this study out of which 10 practitioners consented to participate for a 17% response rate. Participants included cisgender male (n = 6), cisgender female (n = 3), and one transgender male. The majority of participants identified as being White (n = 9) and one identified as being African American. All 10 practitioners held an active CMPC status and were licensed psychologists, counselors, social workers, or provisionally licensed psychologists. Practitioners' experience working directly with Division I male athletes ranged from two to 28 years (M = 9.1 years). See Table 1 for a full breakdown of participant demographic information.

Procedure

Participant recruitment began following approval from the Institutional Review Board.

Participants were recruited by using both convenience sampling and snowball sampling methods.

Convenience, or opportunistic, sampling is defined as a "technique that uses an open period of recruitment that continues until a set number of subjects, events, or institutions are enrolled"

(Luborsky & Rubinstein, 1995, pg. 98). One mode of recruitment was through the Association for Applied Sport Psychology's (AASP) website that lists all active CMPCs. The list of CMPCs were examined by the researcher to determine which individuals met the inclusion criteria for the study based on their listed credentials. Then, the researcher contacted each practitioner via email with a detailed summary of the researcher's background, the purpose of the study, the specific inclusion and exclusion criteria, and a brief summary on how the study would be conducted (see Appendix B for email script). In addition to the AASP website, the researcher also utilized a sport psychology LISTSERV to recruit participants. Participants were recruited

via a post entailing a detailed summary of the researcher's background, the purpose of the study, the specific inclusion and exclusion criteria, and a brief summary on how the study will be conducted (see Appendix C for LISTSERV script). Practitioners who met the inclusion criteria and were interested in participating in the study were instructed to contact the researcher by phone or email. Then, they were emailed a Qualtrics link to a consent form to review and sign (see Appendix D for informed consent). Following completion of the informed consent, participants scheduled a Zoom interview with the researcher.

Interviews were conducted through Zoom and ranged from 24 minutes to 41 minutes in length for an average of 32 minutes. Archibald et al. (2019) found several advantages to collecting data via Zoom including rapport-building, convenience, and simplicity of using the platform. Participants in the study indicated a preference for Zoom compared to face-to-face meetings, over the telephone, or other video conferencing platforms such as Skype (Archibald et al., 2019). One potential limitation of Zoom includes a risk in confidentiality breaches by various external sources, including hackers. In order to reduce this risk, a password protection feature in Zoom was employed by the researcher to create an additional layer of protection and confidentiality for the participants (Gray et al., 2020). Interviews were both audio and screen recorded during the Zoom interview. The screen recorded interviews were kept in a passwordprotected folder by the researcher to further ensure the expectations of confidentiality were met. Following coding and data analysis, the researcher engaged in a member checking process by sending interpretations of the completed interview transcripts to the participants for review in which participants then communicated with the researcher on whether or not those interpretations were accurate.

Participant recruitment ended once data saturation was met. Elo et al. (2014) explained the purpose behind data saturation as, "there is no commonly accepted sample size for qualitative studies because optimal sample depends on the purpose of the study, research questions, and richness of the data" (p. 4). Thus, the study aimed for fulfilling data saturation rather than recruiting a predetermined number of participants. Grady (1998) describes data saturation as the point in which "new data tend to be redundant of data already collected" (p. 26). That is, when the researcher began to hear the same information repeated amongst participants, it was an indication that data saturation was met and the data analysis process could begin.

Instrumentation

Semi-structured Interview Guide.

Data collection for the study was conducted in the form of semi-structured interviews. Semi-structured interviews integrate a combination of predefined questions and potential probing questions. As Peters and Halcomb (2015) explain, "[semi-structured interviews] can produce powerful data that provide insights into the participants' experiences, perceptions or opinions" (p. 6). Thus, interview guides were structured using the format of a semi-structured interview guide that consisted of both structured questions and follow-up questions (see Appendix E for interview guide). The interview guide was first piloted by two practitioners employed in university settings and who have prior experience working with male collegiate athletes. Examples of interview questions include, (a) how long have you been working with Division I male athletes for?, (b) what clinical and/or subclinical mental health-related concerns do male athletes generally come to you for?, (c) what help-seeking barriers do you perceive are the most prevalent for Division I male athletes? and (d) what specific steps are currently being taken at your university to help male athletes more easily obtain access to the services that you provide?

Researcher as an Instrument.

Researchers who conduct semi-structured interviews are identified as the primary instrument which gives him or her the potential to influence the results of the data based on pre-existing researcher biases (Pezella et al., 2012). As a former collegiate athlete and a current sport and exercise psychology graduate student, I acknowledge that I obtain various biases regarding the importance of access to mental health services for collegiate athletes. In addition, as a female conducting research centered on male collegiate athletes, I recognize that I hold biases towards male athlete help-seeking behaviors in general.

I have prior experience working with individual athletes who have sought me out for support regarding concerns within their sport and pertaining to their overall well-being. Furthermore, as a former collegiate athlete myself, I had a coach who consistently promoted the importance of sport psychology and mental health to our team. As a result of these experiences, I recognize that I place a high value on what I feel is the importance that every athlete has access to support services. In addition, I acknowledge that I initially decided to focus my research on male athletes because of a predetermined belief that male athletes have a more difficult time seeking out mental health support than do female athletes. These biases influence how I feel about the significance of male athletes being able to access support services. In order to address these biases, I have increased the trustworthiness of the data collection and analysis processes through the implementation of various methods which are outlined in the following sections.

Data Analysis

A general inductive approach method was used to analyze the data. Thomas (2006) describes the primary purpose of the inductive approach to "allow research findings to emerge from the frequent, dominant, or significant themes inherent in raw data, without the restraints

imposed by structured methodologies" (p. 238). An inductive approach method allowed the researcher to dissect common and recurring codes and themes that arose from participant interviews. After data saturation was met, the process of inductive coding was used to analyze the results of the findings. DeCuir-Gunby et al. (2011) explains coding as an "integral part of the interview data analysis process" (p. 138). According to Thomas (2006), data-driven inductive coding begins with the researcher evaluating the transcriptions of each of the interviews in detail and until they are familiar with the content of the data. Thus, in order to ensure familiarity with the content, the researcher began the data analysis process by listening to audio recorded versions of the interviews as well as reading through the written transcriptions numerous times. Next, the researcher began to dissect various codes that emerged repeatedly within the data. Once codes were extracted from the data, they were then assigned to different themes based on phrases, sentences, or paragraphs that are interconnected (Miles & Huberman, 1994). The researcher then identified and labeled the emerging themes and subthemes that stemmed from the codes. According to DeCuir-Gunby et al. (2011), the final step in developing codes is determining reliability. Reliability was ensured by collaborating with other individuals, including holding in-depth conversations about rationales behind using codes in particular ways and exploring examples and non-examples of the codes.

Trustworthiness

Lincoln and Guba (1985) acknowledge the importance of trustworthiness in qualitative research as a method for ensuring credibility (i.e., confidence in the truth), transferability (i.e., the findings are applicable to other contexts), dependability (i.e., the findings are consistent and repeatable), and confirmability (i.e., a degree of neutrality). Various strategies were employed to

ensure trustworthiness throughout the methodological and data analysis processes including pilot testing, member checking, and the utilization of a critical friend.

Pilot Testing

A pilot test occurs prior to the implementation of the actual study and it allows the researcher an opportunity to seek out any potential flaws, limitations, or other weaknesses that may exist within the interview design to ensure that the initial objectives of the study are being met (Kvale, 2007). According to Turner (2010), piloting participants who have similar interests as those that will participate in the study helps the researcher to refine and solidify research questions. Thus, the researcher conducted pilot interviews with two practitioners who are employed in university settings, have prior experience working with male athletes, and have their CMPC. Based on the feedback received from these pilot participants, the researcher adjusted some of the interview guide questions prior to recruitment of eligible participants. For example, the researcher reformatted the order of the questions by moving the demographics questions from the beginning of the interview to the end of the interview. In addition, the researcher added the structured question, "If resources were unlimited, what strategies do you think would be the most effective to implement on campuses to help male athletes more easily access the services that you provide?" The information gathered via the pilot tests was not used as a part of the data collection and analysis processes.

Member Checking

Although member checking is typically viewed as a technique for establishing and increasing the validity of a study (Amankwaa, 2006; Candela, 2019), it is also argued that this strategy is critical for instituting credibility into a study as well (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Member checking is an approach that allows researchers the ability to ensure accuracy in

understanding of the participant's words and shared experiences by giving the participants an opportunity to confirm or deny the interpretation of the responses and transcriptions. Thus, after the data were analyzed and the codes and themes were identified, the researcher sent the completed interview transcripts with her interpretations of the data back to the participants. Participants were asked to review the interpretations of the transcriptions. Five participants responded and acknowledged that they agreed with all of the researcher's interpretations. One participant responded and shared that he felt some codes fit better into a different theme. The researcher agreed and updated the codebook to match these interpretations.

Critical Friend

As defined by Costa and Kallic (1993), a critical friend "is a trusted person who asks provocative questions, provides data to be examined through another lens, and offers critique of a person's work as a friend" (p. 50). Using a critical friend is essential in reviewing the researcher's codes, challenging and questioning the researcher's biases, and bringing a different perspective to the study. The selected critical friend for this study has had previous qualitative research experience and is knowledgeable in the field of sport psychology. Furthermore, she did not have any direct involvement in the research process or data collection. The critical friend read through each of the interview transcripts and reviewed the current codes and themes that the researcher had identified. The researcher was challenged by the critical friend on the codes that were chosen to fall under particular themes and subthemes. Furthermore, the critical friend questioned why particular themes and subthemes were selected. As a result of this process, the researcher solidified the major themes and combined some of the subthemes together.

Table 1Participant Demographic Information

Practitioner	Gender	Race	CMPC	Counseling/Psychology Licensure	Years Working with DI Male Athletes
Tonya	Cis-F	White	Yes	Licensed Psychologist	2
Seth	Cis-M	White	Yes	Licensed Clinical Psychologist	8
Taylor	Cis-F	White	Yes	Licensed Psychologist	9
Dean	Cis-F	White	Yes	Provisionally Licensed Psychologist	4
Myles	Cis-M	White	Yes	Licensed Professional Counselor	6
Jane	Cis-F	White	Yes	Licensed Clinical Social Worker	10
Rory	Cis-M	White	Yes	Licensed Clinical Psychologist	14
Oliver	Trans-M	White	Yes	Licensed Psychologist	5
Amir	Cis-M	African American	Yes	Licensed Professional Counselor	5
Darren	Cis-M	White	Yes	Licensed Psychologist	28

Note. Practitioner column represents pseudonyms. Cis=Cisgender, Trans=Transgender, F=Female, M=Male, CMPC=Certified Mental Performance Consultant, DI=NCAA Division I.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

This section presents the major themes and subthemes that emerged and were identified throughout the data analysis process. The following research questions were posed: "what are the experiences of licensed practitioners working with male Division I athletes suffering with mental health-related concerns?" and "what steps can be taken to help male Division I athletes more easily access professional psychological help services?" Three major themes were identified: (a) presenting concerns, (b) influences to help-seeking, and (c) strategies to increase accessibility. Presenting concerns consists of two subthemes, mental health-related concerns and sport-related concerns. Influences to help-seeking consists of five subthemes, stigma, coach and sport environment, cultural factors, lack of time and flexibility, and source of referral. Strategies to increase accessibility consists of six subthemes, destigmatization, coach training, service awareness and education, practitioner diversity, relationship-building, and additional practitioners. The following will include definitions for each theme and subtheme, the total number of codes included, and the number of practitioners who are represented within each.

Presenting Concerns

Presenting concerns was defined as any initial symptom or set of symptoms that lead an athlete to seek out support services. This is the first major theme and consists of a total of 57 codes from all 10 participants. Two subthemes emerged, mental health-related concerns and sport-related concerns.

Mental health-related concerns

Mental health-related concerns were defined as a range of conditions from diagnosable psychiatric disorders, such as depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation, to subclinical concerns,

including substance use, grief, trauma, and adjustment struggles. This subtheme includes a total of 41 codes from all 10 participants.

Participants mentioned depression being a common presenting concern that male athletes seek out help for. In his experiences working with male athletes, Myles explained that, "...we certainly see some, um, some, some cases of depression and, you know, minor depressive episodes and things like that." One practitioner reported a combination of both depression and suicidal ideation as being a presenting concern that he has seen in his recent work with male athletes. As Oliver mentioned, "If I'm thinking about this semester, the things that I've seen come up the most [for male athletes] has been depression, uh, with some of them, um, including suicidal ideation."

Participants reported that anxiety is an additional presenting concern that male athletes oftentimes seek out help for. Myles said that, "I'd say for males and females but particularly males, uh, anxiety is the one that I see the most of." Clinical anxiety may present itself in a number of different forms, as Rory explained: "...typically something like generalized anxiety disorder and there's been the occasional, like, specific sort of anxieties or, like, obsessive compulsive anxiety disorder or more of, like, social anxiety."

Participants also talked about how male athletes oftentimes turn to substance use as a coping mechanism to deal with other presenting concerns that may exist. For instance, Myles explained that, "[Male] athletes may need help, um, coping, uh, or find adaptive ways to cope with their anxiety, um, that doesn't involve, you know, marijuana or alcohol or any other kind of substance or things like that." Thus, while substance use is a prevalent presenting concern for male athletes, Darren shared their ongoing reluctance to and denial for needing help: "I do a lot

of alcohol and drug stuff and none of those guys think they have a problem and none of them, you know, want to be there."

Grief and loss emerged as another commonly experienced mental health-related presenting concern in the male athlete population. Tonya shared that, "I've worked with some men who've come in after, like, with grief issues, like, after a loss of a family member or something that was hard to talk about anywhere else." In some cases, grief may also lead to trauma in athletes. As Amir explained, one of the most prevalent presenting concerns he sees in male athletes is "definitely trauma. And sometimes trauma can be, like, grief and loss." Although trauma is a recurring presenting concern, Seth shared how male athletes may not identify their struggles as such, "I'd say, um, I think trauma [is a presenting concern] as well although... I don't know if they [male athletes] would necessarily use... that term."

Finally, adjustment struggles presented as a subsequent example of a subclinical mental health-related concern experienced by male athletes. Jane explained how adjustment struggles can encompass a wide range of conflicts, "kind of adjustment to any major stressor. So like, like a break up with a significant other, um, a death in the family, um, could be transition to college, um, could be... some other type of relationship conflict." Similarly, Myles shared his experiences working with some male athletes who struggle to make the transition to college, "We have a lot of adjustment disorders particularly for student-athletes who are transitioning from high school to freshman, uh, or just in general."

Sport-related concerns

Sport-related concerns were defined as any conflict or issue that may arise specifically within the sport context and either directly or indirectly have an impact on an athlete's performance. This subtheme is comprised of 16 codes from eight participants. Examples of

sport-related concerns include relationship issues with coaches, anger and frustration in sport, performance anxiety, and position on the team.

According to participants, relationship issues with coaches is a common sport-related presenting concern that male athletes seek out help for. As Taylor stated:

"I see a lot of coaching issues. I see a lot of, um, male athletes that come in and they're struggling with their coach and they're struggling with how their coach presents to them and they're struggling with that kind of, like, internal dynamic of, like, "I feel like I'm doing really well but my coach is just telling me I'm terrible." Um, I see a lot of that."

In addition, male athletes oftentimes present with anger and frustration concerns within their sport. Tonya explained that male athletes struggle with "anger concerns, like, during competition or during practice or sort of, you know, at levels that are not, uh, to other people's liking maybe... or that feels sort of socially acceptable." Taylor elaborated on the struggles that some male athletes experience in trying to manage their anger, "I've seen quite a few [male athletes] come in with anger issues and them just not knowing how to navigate that and not knowing how to, um, how to manage their anger in a way that's productive."

Participants shared that performance anxiety is another sport-related concern that male athletes seek out help for. Taylor went into detail about her experiences working with the football team at her university, "...once our football players start getting in, I'll start seeing more of them for some of the sports performance stuff, um, and just for some of the anxiety pieces that come with playing." Myles also mentioned performance anxiety by sharing that male athletes seek out support for "...anxiety, like, "how do I... approach practice and not feel like my... head is on fire?" kind of thing."

Practitioners mentioned that male athletes also present with concerns relating to position on their team, specifically in regards to playing time. As Seth explained, it is not uncommon for an athlete to reach out to him when it is "...something along the lines of... "I just lost my starting spot." Um, something that threatens their athletic identity." Oliver shared a similar experience in that male athletes oftentimes come in for "sport performance and concerns about position on the team."

Influences to Help-Seeking

The second major theme that emerged is influences to help-seeking. This was defined as any facilitator or barrier that affects an athlete's decision on whether or not to seek out and use support services. There are a total of 100 codes representing all 10 practitioners. Five subthemes are identified, stigma, coach and sport environment, cultural factors, lack of time and accessibility, and source of referral.

Stigma

Stigma was defined as the negative attitudes and beliefs that society holds towards male athletes who choose to utilize support services for mental health-related struggles. This subtheme consists of a total of 21 codes from all 10 practitioners.

Participants explained how they believe perceived stigma has an influence on what decisions male athletes make in relation to help-seeking. For example, Dean mentioned that "...they [male athletes] don't want to be judged as weak... I feel like I do hear that, of they don't want to be perceived as weak or not able to handle their day-to-day life." Jane explained how she believes perceived stigma is often a result of the messages that male athletes receive in the media:

"I think... a lot of the messages that males get in the media from society about, you

know, asking for help being a weakness, um, that you should be able to do things on your own, that you gotta look like you have it all together for your teammates, you know, you don't want people to perceive you in a certain way."

In addition, the type of sport that a male athlete participates in may also affect their level of perceived stigma. As Oliver said:

"I think that... like, worrying about people seeing [male athletes] come in and use services, um, especially in more, like, normed masculine sports like football and basketball. I think it's, um, something that is still heavily stigmatized, um, to utilize services."

Another type of stigma that participants reported that they perceive male athletes experience is self-stigma. For example, Rory said, "I think stigma is the... largest [barrier] in terms of, um, you know, "what does it say about me if I seek help, um, for something related to me mentally or emotionally?"

Participants also pointed out that identifying as both a male and an athlete, rather than only one or the other, may provide even further stigma. As Tonya explained:

"Well, I think it's... two-fold. I think being a man and being an athlete, um, [they] are typically cultures that are more acceptable to kind of have it all together and not talk much about emotion or needing help."

She went on to elaborate how male athletes are oftentimes perceived as a privileged group in our society, thus making it difficult to target them specifically to increase their access to support services:

"...men are typically a privileged group and so though they're not seeking services in the same way, sometimes I think people have reactions to, um, targeting men... even

athletes. I'm like, "hey, this is a high-risk group that are not help-seeking." But sort of this idea outside of athletics often is that [male] athletes have a lot of privilege and don't necessarily need some special thing or shouldn't get it or don't deserve it."

Practitioners also discussed male athletes' overall attitudes and behaviors toward helpseeking as a result of the stigma that is oftentimes experienced. For example, Darren said that:

"...despite all the publicity in the number of elite male athletes who have come forward with their own mental health struggles... there is still more stigma particularly attached with male athletes, you know, seeking out help. Um, it's just, you know, they try to deal with it on their own."

Myles mentioned a similar experience in which some of his male athlete-clients tried to deal with their struggles on their own until they reached a point where they had no other choice but to reach out for help:

"I hear a lot in sessions that, um, you know, "I've been meaning to reach out for months"... you know, [and] things are finally so bad that they do it and they almost don't care about the stigma associated with it."

Coach and sport environment

Coach and sport environment was defined as the surrounding conditions created by various stakeholders associated with a team, including coaches and teammates, that which affects a male athletes' attitudes and behaviors toward help-seeking. This subtheme includes a total of 17 codes from seven participants.

When it comes to using support services, Taylor explained how male athletes are oftentimes heavily influenced by what messages their coaches send them about engaging in such resources. She said, "male athletes in particular, too, I think if their coach doesn't believe in it,

they are less likely to step in and [seek help]." Similarly, Darren explained how, "they're coached up all the time to be mentally tough, um, and so... you still see them struggling with... "what does this look like as a male... if I'm going to see a psychologist?" Taylor gave a specific example of her experiences working with some of the coaches at her university and how the ways in which coaches speak to their male athletes can have an impact on how the athletes feel about asking for help:

"Luckily here, the two major sports being basketball and football, both of the coaches are really, really supportive of their athletes seeking help. Not necessarily in a way that I think is functional at times because sometimes it comes more across as, "you're... too messed up. I can't handle you. Go talk to somebody." Um, and so then [male athletes] feel that kind of internal, like, "well if I'm so screwed up, what am I doing?"

Participants also emphasized how different coaches may place a higher value on sport psychology services than other coaches. For example, Tonya said, "Some teams, like the, uh, the track team... the coach would have us come and just, like, with all the new athletes, "hey, just come and introduce yourselves and... say what the services are." Whereas in other cases, "some coaches aren't as interested in having us come out or talking to us and so I think that, um, that can be a barrier."

Myles mentioned how it is not just the environment that a coach creates that influences a male athlete's decision to seek out help, but he perceives it to be the sport environment as a whole:

"...come to find out that, you know, they play on a team that doesn't really normalize things like mental health, um, as well as... other sports. Um, usually kind of more 'macho, testosterone'-driven sports, um, are the ones that we see the most barriers

associated with [help-seeking]."

Cultural factors

Cultural factors were defined as various values, beliefs, and ideologies of a particular community or group that an athlete identifies with and that ultimately influences their help-seeking attitudes and behaviors. This subtheme includes 14 codes from eight practitioners.

Participants suggested that culture is an important factor that affects a male athletes' willingness to seek out help services. In particular, participants mentioned that some athletes may not know how to navigate asking for help because they were brought up in a culture that does not believe in talking about their struggles to strangers. As Amir explained:

"Culturally within the African American community or... other minority groups, like, they may not be willing and open to share, like, what's happening in their life because they may not have been trained to do that within their life so it's harder and "I'll just suffer in silence"... as opposed to, like, "go and talk about my business" because like, "we don't talk about our business with strangers."

Tonya shared a similar perspective in that she believes it is harder for some athletes to seek out help because of the expectations that are set within their culture about who they should confide in regarding their struggles:

"I think culture is gonna impact men differently but I think in terms of race or ethnicity there are a lot of athletes of color and a lot of people have shared sort of like, "well we don't talk about stuff outside of my family."

Consequently, Taylor mentioned how, "our male athletes of color just [do] not really know where is a safe space on campus to go talk to somebody."

Participants also mentioned that male athletes may not even realize that they are struggling with a mental health concern because their culture does not view mental health as something that is real. As Amir explained, "...they may not know that they need help." Dean shared that some athletes may have a background of "growing up in a family or a community where mental health isn't really viewed as quote-in-quote, "real"... and they've grown up in an environment where they've learned or been taught to just tough it out." Dean then continued by talking about some of his specific experiences working with male athletes:

"...I'll have some [male athletes] that... they'll very plainly say, you know, like, "my family... doesn't really believe in mental health, you know? They don't really think it's a thing, you know? Depression is just something you have to, you know, "get over it, you'll be fine."

Practitioners also discussed the lack of experience that some male athletes may have with help-seeking because they did not grow up in a place or a community that had access to mental health services. As Myles said:

"Some student-athletes may come from areas... where they don't have access to psychologists or counselors or... anything like that. So it's a very new thing and they're used to dealing with things on their own which means they just sort of assume that they can handle it, um, by themselves."

Darren expressed a similar perspective by explaining:

"...in particular with some of the higher profile sports where you've got a lot of, um,

African American athletes coming from some pretty difficult backgrounds and the

concept of, like... seeking out mental health, I mean, it's... a new experience for a lot of
them."

Lack of time and flexibility

Lack of time and flexibility refers to the experiences of both practitioners and athletes. It was defined as one's inability to engage in a particular action due to an insufficient amount of availability and adaptability. There are a total of 27 codes from seven practitioners related to this subtheme.

When examining an athlete's lack of time and flexibility to seek out and utilize support services, practitioners pointed out the struggles that many collegiate athletes face when trying to find a balance between their athletic, academic, and social lives. As Oliver explained:

"I think their schedules are so busy that in ways, even though they have these resources, I think they can feel so tapped out between, "I have tutoring and I have study hall hours and I have these meetings and then I have practice and then I have competition and travel and I'm also trying to be a college student and have fun" that I think that, in and of itself, can become a barrier."

In addition to their hectic schedules, collegiate athletes are also limited by support services only being offered for a set number of hours throughout the day. Seth shared that, "one thing that... can also come up as a barrier is, I work eight to five at my university and, like, that often interferes with class, practice, travel, games, so on and so forth." Oftentimes, collegiate athletes are consumed by their athletic and academic requirements throughout the day and do not have the time or flexibility to fit additional appointments into their schedules, as Amir explained: "I think, like, for some of our male athletes... if their practices run in the afternoon that means probably your class schedule is jam packed in the morning."

Furthermore, Amir talked about how male athletes in particular are less likely to prioritize help-seeking over athletic-related demands:

"There's ever-evolving changes that happen where they may find that, at the last minute, "I get called into a meeting by my coach" and they're definitely gonna go meet with their coach before they meet with me. I've rarely seen, like, male athletes cancel an appointment with their coach to say they're meeting with me but I've seen it numerous times where like, "I had to miss the appointment today because I had to meet with my coach."

Participants also described what it means to have a lack of time and flexibility from a practitioner's perspective. Myles mentioned his inability to have enough hours to spend working with athletes because he is only employed part-time at his university as a practitioner, "I mean, at the end of the day you can only do with the time that you have and so if they're only buying 20 hours a week of my time... then I'm really only giving them 20 hours a week." Although employed full-time, Taylor described how she has "three intakes for student-athletes this week and I think one next week and it's just me." Amir shared how having a low number of practitioners on staff not only leads to less flexibility for scheduling appointments with individual athletes but it can limit other areas of outreach as well:

"...when you start to see 25 to 30 athletes a week, there's not time to go do those other outreaches, there's not time to do small group sessions, there's not time to do educational workshops and programming because time starts to become a thing."

When compared to other members of an athletic team's support staff, participants expressed how they feel understaffed. Myles makes this comparison at his university:

"We have a strength and conditioning staff of about 18 or 19 people, we have an athletic training staff and sports medicine staff of about 25 people, and we have a mental health staff of about, collective one person because I'm half-time... and then our psychiatrist is

50 percent as well. So together, we're one person."

As Darren explained, having "one practitioner at, like, a Division I Power Five school? That's almost an impossible job."

To further complicate things, Amir mentioned how, in his experiences, male athletes tend to oftentimes desire immediate access to services, "I feel like female athletes are more on the proactive side and, like, schedule things in advance... but usually the male athletes are like, "when are you available today? Can we meet tomorrow?" Tonya shared a similar perspective:

"It's like, if something's going on and one of the male students wants to come in and was referred it's, like, he wants to come in this afternoon or tomorrow morning and if we can't do that, a lot of times we lose the referral because... it's too much effort to try to fit into our schedule or then we have to schedule two weeks out and... the issue is not there in the same way."

Some participants also shared how not being entirely embedded in athletics creates even less time and flexibility to accommodate for athlete needs. Tonya explained the challenges of being in a split position between both athletics and the counseling center at her university:

"...when you're doing a really good job... and you're getting really well-known, then you're in individual meetings all day. We have three people on our sport psych staff, um, but we also have expectations within [the] counseling center so... all of our time isn't focused to athletics, so there's limits to that."

Taylor has both experiences of being fully embedded in athletics and being in a split position at a university, "I don't often... because of time and resources, have the availability to do what I did at, like, [university name] where I was in the athletic department. I could just go up to practice, stand on the sidelines, you know, see what's going on." Darren also mentioned how being fully

embedded within athletics also increases an athlete's accessibility to services, "Um, you know, again, you know, we're here just for student-athletes so it's... much easier [for the athletes] to get in."

Source of referral

This subtheme includes 21 codes from eight participants. Source of referral was defined as an individual or group of individuals who are responsible for guiding an athlete in the direction of support services. Examples of referral sources for male athletes are athletic trainers, strength and conditioning coaches, academic support staff, and team coaches.

Many practitioners mentioned the important role that athletic trainers play in being a key source of referral. Rory expressed that the vast majority of his male athletes are referred to him via the athletic training staff, "All but, like, I can think of one or two [male athletes] off the top of my head have been basically referred to me through the athletic trainers." Tonya also mentioned that "...more often they're referred from athletic trainers." Taylor shared a similar experience as well:

"I think the main source of referral that we have really for male athletes that are seeking support is that our training staff is really adept to stepping back and actually being like, "something's going on, we have a person, let's just make that connection." I would say 75 percent of the time it comes from one of the two head athletic trainers and it's a male athlete."

As Myles suggested, athletes may feel more comfortable confiding in athletic trainers about various struggles they are encountering both on and off the field, "obviously they're going to be more comfortable talking to athletic training because athletic training is truly integrated.

They have, uh, at least one athletic trainer sports medicine professional per team on campus, uh, if not more."

Additional support staff, including the strength and conditioning team, have also been identified as essential referral sources for male athletes not only due to their ability to be integrated within the teams but because they also do not have any direct influence over the athlete's playing time. As Amir explained:

"Strength and conditioning coaches they're, like, a big part of this as well because they may see our athletes at like, six a.m. and really can tell, like, from the beginning of the day, like, "this person really hasn't slept" or "are not gaining weight", um, and like, things are just off... strength coaches have a different relationship with the athlete than their head coaches or position coaches or assistant coaches. Like sometimes, they may disclose more to them as opposed to, like... the person who controls their playing time."

Darren emphasized the importance of making the distinction between performance-based and mental health-related concerns when talking about what other factors may influence the source of referral:

"It's very rare to, particularly with male athletes, without some sort of prompting do they reach out to me specifically for mental health. So I'd make that distinction between, you know, performance, they're much more inclined to... reach out... as opposed to, you know, something has gone wrong or something has been identified as some sort of mental health issue."

More specifically, Darren explained how "...definitely with males, I get more... coach-suggested referrals... if the initial presenting issue is just performance." In general, Amir explained how referral sources for his male athletes have included a wide range of individuals:

"Could be a head coach, could be an assistant coach, could be an athletic trainer, can be a parent, um, a couple parents push their sons to me... sometimes academic support staff as well and like, their academic advisor or counselor, strength and conditioning coaches."

Strategies to Increase Accessibility

The third major theme that has been identified is strategies to increase accessibility. It was defined as specific steps intended to improve a male athlete's ability to approach, reach, and utilize support services. This theme is comprised of 172 codes from all 10 participants.

Destigmatization

Destignatization was defined as the process of removing all negative associations from a particular thing or action, such as engaging in help-seeking. This subtheme consists of 63 codes from seven practitioners. Examples of destignatization strategies include the utilization of guest speakers, increased practitioner visibility and integration, and the development of support groups.

Practitioners suggested the strategy of inviting guest speakers who have a powerful influence in the athletic community to their universities to talk to male athletes about the importance of mental health and help-seeking. For example, Jane shared:

"I think about being able to bring people with bigger names as speakers. So people that male athletes can relate to that can speak about their experiences and the importance of mental health and well-being and how valuable services can be."

Jane continued on and proposed talking to the athletes in both small and large group settings, "I do think it could be very impactful especially when you have a speaker speak to a large group but then also meet with smaller groups. So sort of take each team maybe separately and then have smaller conversations." Dean shared a similar thought and further suggested that guest

speakers should not only be selected due to their influence and power within the athletic community, but also based on varying identities and backgrounds in order to attract the attention of minority athletes as well:

"...if we could create a speaker series where they could come and share their story and their experience with mental health and where we could include people who are a range of identities and backgrounds and sports and experiences so that it's not just, you know, all of this or all of that but there's some variety in helping give all of our athletes an opportunity to hear a message from somebody that they can relate to in a very specific way."

Additionally, practitioners suggested that destignatization come in the form of normalization through increased practitioner visibility and integration within the teams. As Myles explained:

"I mean, there's no shame and no stigma with going to see a trainer if an area of your body hurts, um, and so, I've sort of taken that as, like, what if we could just become another, you know, person that's on the sidelines that an athlete feels comfortable coming up and saying, like, instead of, "hey, something hurts in my shoulder" like, "hey, something's not quite right here, um, I need a little help dealing with that."

Taylor also expressed a similar perspective in the importance of being fully integrated with the teams:

"I do think when... an athlete sees somebody there all the time, they're kind of there, they're part of the training, like, they're part of the team, I think it's more... easy for them to step in and go talk to them."

For example, Tonya illustrated what visibility and integration with a team may look like:

"I think it's... showing up and being present at, um, team meetings... at games or practices... and be around so athletes can kind of see us and, um, see... that we're kind of normal people and that we might be okay to talk to."

Amir expressed that visibility and integration can come in a variety of ways and in a number of different settings, in addition to attending practices and games:

"I think that's a big thing of us just going to practice, being available. Um, going to games is another thing as well. Um, going to other team functions that they may have and just, even if you're there for five minutes... having a meal with, like, a group of athletes is a thing that I've done before. Uh, student-athlete advisory committee meetings, we go to those on occasion... go to the training room... like just passing through the training room, talk to athletes who may be injured or just getting treatment before practice."

Myles shared from his own experiences that being present in settings, such as the weight room, can provide more comfortability for athletes in opening up the conversation and normalizing behaviors such as using support services:

"And we've actually seen that, um, where... I've been in weight rooms, I'm standing at the door talking to the coach and I literally get a, you know, a junior athlete, you know... this, like, big, bruising dude who, like, yells across the room, like, "hey, Dr. [name], are we on for Thursday at nine?" and I'm just like, "Yes."

As Dean explained, "the more presence those individuals (the practitioners) have... the more normalized [help-seeking] becomes." Thus, in order to become more normalized within the culture of the team, Myles also talked about the importance of practitioners taking a proactive approach to involve themselves in the team rather than waiting for the teams and athletes to reach out to them:

"...it's not waiting for them to be referred to you. It's sort of going into their territory and making sure that, like, um, I become normalized within the culture of the team as opposed to, um, just something that some people need."

Similarly, Rory explained how practitioners should "find ways to go to the student-athletes and meet them where they are... as opposed to waiting for them to come to us."

Additionally, practitioners explained how destigmatization may occur through the development of various support groups and organizations. Seth reported that he has tried to coordinate a male athlete-specific support group in the past but that "it's been so hard to get attendance." Thus, instead of directly targeting the 'male' and 'athlete' identities, some practitioners, including Seth, suggested targeting additional identities that male athletes may be able to relate to:

"I think that it would be too reductive to only be thinking about the two identities that we're talking about: male-identified and then student-athlete-identified and thinking about kind of, if we are to expand access, thinking about other ways to get buy-in."

For example, Dean explained how his university indirectly targets male athletes through the creation of a Black student-athlete organization:

"I do think that, you know, like most schools, the sports that generate the most revenue, being football and basketball, of course you look at the male population there as well as the fact that there is a pretty strong African American population. You know, that's one of the major benefits of something like the Black student-athlete organization that my colleague is really taking charge of."

Moreover, Rory mentioned how his university developed a student-athlete program that, although not male-specific, requires all of its athletes to attend various activities throughout the course of the year:

"...[it] is more like a student development program and within that program... there are activities that all of our student-athletes are required to attend and we typically have, uh, one mental health-related... activity each semester... that, um, student-athletes can attend so it's kind of reaching out to them in that way."

Oliver explained how at his university, a student-athlete group facilitated by the practitioners teaches the athletes specifically "what to be aware of if someone's struggling, how to refer them, um, sometimes... will include some debriefing of, like, "okay, what's going on, on teams? Are there any concerns?"

Coach training

Coach training was defined as the act of targeting the coach population with the intention of educating and bringing awareness to topics related to athlete mental health and help-seeking. This subtheme has a total of 23 codes from six practitioners.

Coach training may come in a variety of ways. For example, Jane explained how she meets with individual coaches staffs at the beginning of each year:

"At the beginning of each year, um, I go around and have individual coach meetings. So I sit down with each coaching staff and we review sort of our mental health policy, we talk about, um, you know, how to refer, what to do in emergency and non-emergency situations, and then we... discuss anything specific to their team, um, that they might want some help with or have questions about."

Similarly, Seth talked about how his staff leads more interactive-based presentations that allow coaches to ask questions:

"We had a really good, um, presentation over the summer that all the coaches were required to go to talking about all of the presenting concerns... and so just this idea of, um, you know, even just allowing them to ask questions."

Oliver explained how coach training at his university comes in the form of mandatory mental health first aid and suicide prevention trainings:

"We actually will also be having two mandatory all-staff trainings that are going to be around mental health. Um, the first... that one's gonna be kind of, like, mental health first aid... so we're gonna talk with staff about signs and symptoms of depression, suicidal ideation, anxiety, substance use, and eating disorders and just kind of build their awareness of if they hear or see certain things... um, the other one that's gonna be mandatory is gonna be in... a clinic out here... and they're gonna be doing, like, a more in-depth dive specialty training for our staff and setting around suicide prevention." oposed the idea of a peer engagement training that allows coaches to come together and

Jane proposed the idea of a peer engagement training that allows coaches to come together and share ideas with each other on what strategies may work best:

"I think even things like getting several... coaches together and strategizing things that they could implement on their teams so there's sort of that peer engagement, um, rather than just having a professional come and, like, talk to you about what you should do."

Regardless of the type of training, Oliver emphasized the importance of making them mandatory, "...ideally, we'd like people to just attend it because they recognize the value but sometimes you need to make it mandatory" while Amir asserted that coach presentations and trainings are kept concise, "Um, one of the things I found this year is I try to do presentations in 10 minutes or less

for certain groups, specifically, like, coaches." Furthermore, Myles explains the significance of coaches who are aware of and invested in the services that he provides:

"I've found that with teams that coaches are really invested... and not just like, "yeah, great. You're a resource. I'll let my athletes know that you're available, here's how they can get in touch with you" and all that stuff but, um, but more like, you know, "you're gonna be a part of this. You're gonna... be here once every couple of weeks, they're gonna know who you are. If you'd show up for practice that'd be great. We'll invite you to travel with the team." You know, those kinds of things that I see a lot more athletes from that sport, uh, or from that team."

Similarly, Amir reported on the importance of making sure coaches are informed of the services that he provides, "Um, making sure coaches are informed of what you do and what you don't do and how you can be of assistance to their program definitely can, like, remove some barriers."

Service awareness and education

Service awareness and education was defined as the process of informing male athletes of the benefits of engaging in sport psychology services as well as how to go about using such services. This subtheme consists of 18 codes from eight practitioners. Service awareness and education may come in the form of presentations and mental health screenings.

Participants shared that speaking to the teams about the services that they provide and the benefits of engaging in those services may help male athletes in accessing help. For example, Seth talked about how a male athlete has reached out to him because of an introductory presentation he did with their team: "I think I got a client because I was talking about, like, some introduction to... sport psych and... sometimes you just get someone that, like, wants to come

in." Dean mentioned how his staff introduces themselves to each team at the beginning of the year with brief presentations:

"...it was very simple...but we were pretty intentional about... during the beginning of the year meetings that all of our teams had, we were present at those meetings... and made an introduction. Included, you know, contact information and made sure that the athletes knew how they could get in touch with us."

Darren suggested that presentations should be set up in a way that "you're kind of telling a story so they can get, you know, they can get an image of... how athletes, um, utilize us." More specifically, he mentioned that:

"Um, you know, we'll talk... about the services that are available... and with some student-athletes how they... have been utilized in the past, how they might be able to access them. Um, you know, kind of a reminder, "this may be something you might need as only a freshman in your adjustment or transition or maybe this is something you might need, you know, later on in your career because of an injury or... a broken coaching relationship or, you know, whatever the case may be."

Tonya shared how presentations may be more interactive to get the athletes and teams more engaged:

"Some teams will have us come and do, like, an ice breaker and, like, actually run some sort of activity, um, and then debrief and talk about our services... so with some teams, it's kind of a catchy, um, introduction to an activity."

Mental health screenings are another strategy that participants mentioned could help raise awareness and educate male athletes about the services that they provide. As Myles explained:

"We do mental health screenings, um, where I sit down individually with every

student-athlete... it gives [athletes] the opportunity to kind of meet face-to-face and in a kind of non-threatening environment and it kind of just raises awareness, um, that "a" we have people here to help and "b" if something comes up in the screening tool... sometimes people end up, you know, scheduling sessions as a result of those."

Oliver explained how his staff implements a similar mental health screening process each year:

"... [it is] an opportunity for us to, at the beginning of the season, get face-to-face with all the athletes, tell them about our services... that's an opportunity for them to meet us, get a feel for us and that's where we're doing kind of a quick educational piece of... here's the value of coming in."

Similarly, Darren shared how his staff tries to normalize their services to the athletes during their mental health screenings by telling them that, "[we are] part of the support team just like strength and conditioning and nutritionists and athletic trainers, you know, we're another one of those folks." In addition to speaking to each individual athlete, Amir talked about another approach that his staff takes with the mental health screening tool:

"There was also a question that we added, uh, "Do you want a member from the counseling and sport psychology staff to reach out?" People that would select "yes", we reached out and scheduled an appointment."

Additionally, Seth mentioned that his staff sets up an information table during the athletes' physicals that allows them to become familiar with who the practitioners on staff are and what they look like:

"We're planning on being part of the physicals and so, like... they're gonna stop by the [Counseling and Psychological Services] table. We actually, um, have a postcard with all of our professional headshots on it so... the fact that we're there, we're giving a postcard,

they know what we look like, um, they know that we're around and available."

Practitioner diversity

Practitioner diversity was defined as a range of varying characteristics that practitioners may identify with including gender, race, and sexual orientation. This subtheme has a total of 12 codes from seven practitioners.

Participants suggested that the gender of the practitioner may make a difference in a male athletes' decision to seek out support services. For example, Tonya mentioned that:

"I think trying to hire, um, and match [male athletes] with male trainees, though... not required... sometimes men feel more comfortable... seeing a male who might "get it" in some ways. Though also, I've heard a lot of men say the opposite of it's easier to talk to a woman."

Taylor shared a similar perspective and described the importance of staffing both female and male practitioners:

"Um, there is some dynamic that comes with the fact that I am female. Um, and so for some male athletes I think that's great and for other male athletes I think that's a put-off, uh, which is also why the other person that works in the athletic department with me is male... so if they don't want to work with a female they have that option."

In addition, practitioners discussed the importance of incorporating diversity into their staff in terms of race. For example, Taylor explained that, "I can understand how maybe a male, even a White male or a male of another race or ethnicity might, you know... want... a provider of color." Amir also discussed the limitations that providing only practitioner of a single race can have on a male athletes' accessibility to support services: "...Black males may not be as inclined to, like, talk with a White male provider so if that's... the provider for them, it may not happen."

Darren explained how some athletes may initially feel more comfortable reaching out to a practitioner who looks like him:

"I think... providing, um, as much diversity in your staff as possible, um, can be really helpful because, at least initially, if I see somebody who looks like me, I'm more likely to, at least at the start, you're more comfortable maybe talking to that person... at least initially, I think that makes a difference."

Practitioner diversity in terms of sexual orientation was also suggested by one participant.

As Darren explained, "...it would be cool to have a legitimately out, um, lesbian or gay, um, psychologist or counselor on the staff."

Relationship-building

Relationship-building was defined as the process of actively developing connections with key members of a team including coaches, athletes, and other support staff members. This subtheme consists of a total number of 32 codes from eight participants.

When referring to additional action steps that may increase male athlete's accessibility to support services, participants talked about the importance of building strong relationships with coaches in particular. Tonya shared how her and her staff are consistently "trying to, uh, connect with the coaches throughout the year." As Myles also explained:

"...a lot of effort has been placed in... really building that trust and relationship with coaches. Because when you think about it, yes, you want to building trust and... positive relationships... with the athletes... but the athletes tend to graduate and move on... as opposed to coaches [who] are relatively stable."

More specifically, Myles mentioned how he maintains strong relationships with coaches throughout the course of the year, including the offseason:

"Every couple weeks I might pop my head in the coach's office or ask them out for coffee or "let's just kind of chat about things." And now, the offseason's really key for doing that because their obligations to travel are a little bit less intense... so I sort of take that approach with relationship-building."

Seth talked about how it is also important to build relationships with the athletes themselves as most of his male athlete-clients come from the rapport built from the work he does with teams as a whole:

"I would say that most of the male-identified athletes that I've worked with are on account of rapport built from mental skills training. So a majority of the male-identified clients I've worked with have been because I've worked with their team and there's already trust there of, like, "I know who this person is."

Similarly, Rory shared his experiences with building close relationships with teams and individual athletes and how that has directly impacted the number of athletes that end up reaching out to him for help: "The programs and teams that I'm able to spend more time around and be around and develop relationships with... those athletes, I tend to see more of." Rory also talked about specifically what this type of relationship building with athletes and teams may look like:

"...so whether that's like our men's basketball program, for example... is, um, getting in front of them, developing relationships individually with them, meeting with them individually, meeting with them as a team... trying to establish more of that name and face recognition so that if an issue were to arise then that barrier of not knowing who this person is, is hopefully addressed a little bit better."

Amir mentioned how building relationships with athletes may also come in the form of casual conversations:

"I go to practices... and I do that for the reason of, I'm taking sport psychology mental health, like, out of the office and like, going to the athlete and meeting the athlete and say like, "hey, athlete, how are you? I'm in your space... this is your environment... and I'm just here to be in your environment and just observe" and I think it allows for casual conversation to build a relationship so then... the athlete can say, like, "hey, I got some questions."

Moreover, Amir emphasized the rationale behind building relationships with athletes in settings that they feel more comfortable in, such as at practice:

"...it's just a lot easier and that's where (in a sport setting) they're more comfortable as opposed to, "I gotta go to this dude's office and I've, like, never seen him before? One, where is his office and, like, what is it like? And who is this person?" If they (athletes) already know me ahead of time, it's easier for them to ask me for help or ask for assistance."

Participants also discussed the importance of taking the approach to building strong relationships with other support staff members, such as athletic trainers. Tonya explained the benefits of her working relationship with the athletic training staff at her university:

"We have a really good, um, working relationship with the athletic training staff and they tend to have really good relationships with the athletes since they are paired with a team and so they're around and can see what's going on and then they have a pretty good trusting relationship with them so I think it's been a really helpful "in" of, like, "hey, why don't you go try sport psych?"

Oliver further explained the importance of his relationship with the athletic training staff:

"I mean, it's probably the biggest reason why athletic trainers tend to be the ones that athletes will share what's going on with them first because they're around them more... and that is why we... talk to our athletic trainers and make sure they're well-versed in consulting with us and referring folks to use because they tend to hear it first."

In addition to athletic trainers, Taylor has found that working closely with a team's academic support staff, such as tutors and academic advisors, to be beneficial as well:

"I have found here and then in other athletics environments getting involved with... the academics, like, coaching team really helped because they're seeing... the athletes as often as their coaches are and they actually get more information often from their athletes."

Darren and his staff have worked to build close relationships with a variety of support staff members in general and he talked about the importance of maintaining those relationships:

"We're also, um, interacting with, you know, a lot of athletic trainers and... we have pretty good relationships with most of the coaching staffs so even if... the student-athlete forgets that we exist, um, you know, administrators, coaches, trainers... they all know so they're going to... remind student-athletes if something comes up."

Additional practitioners

Additional practitioners is defined as the need or desire to include supplementary sport psychology professionals to what is currently present and available at the university. This subtheme has 23 codes from all 10 practitioners.

Practitioners expressed the need to hire more sport psychologists in order to effectively increase access to help services for male athletes. Myles shares how "as simple as it is, it really is

a simple solution, um, which is to invest in people who are doing the work and then trust them to do a good job."

As far as the specific number of additional practitioners goes, participants varied in their responses. Some participants, such as Jane, supported the idea of having one practitioner assigned to each team: "if we had... a (sport psychology) staff member assigned to each team to kind of be there and build more rapport and connections." Seth shared a similar thought in that if their university could afford it, "every team would have their own dedicated sport psych, like, clinician." Other participants, like Rory, do not necessarily think every team needs their own sport psychologist but that even two more full-time practitioners on staff would be helpful:

"...more full-time staff. I mean, um, we have... 450 student-athletes... if we had, I think, two other full-time staff, um, I think that would be... the best strategy because then that would basically, um, provide more opportunity for, um, athletes, in particular our male athletes, um, to develop some type of relationship with a sport psychology consultant of some kind."

Participants, like Darren, suggested that the number of sport psychologists on staff at a university is different and that each should be calculated on an individual basis:

"So you need to... assess, okay, yeah, how many... full-time people do you need, um, in addition of figuring out what that number looks like at your institution."

Myles proposed the idea of developing a sport psychology-specific department with various practitioners and specializations: "you can develop the department and have, you know, a director and people do different things and I think that's the right way to go." More specifically, Myles gave examples:

"Um, you know, Stanford does it really well. Michigan does it really well where they

essentially have a fleet... they have social workers, they have individuals who specialize in things like eating disorders or racial trauma or, um, you know, a number of different things, uh, so all of that doesn't fall on one or two people."

Jane suggested that if hiring specialized professionals is not financially feasible, that universities should consider "having a pool of money... to pay for treatment that need specialized services so, you know, if there's a specialty area that a counselor can't provide, you know, are there funds available to support that?"

The benefits of having additional practitioners may include being able to more effectively build relationships with teams, as Oliver pointed out: "I do very much believe that if there was more... personnel then you would be better able to more consistently relationship build." Amir explained how more practitioners on staff would not only increase relationship building with teams, but it would allow practitioners to engage in more outreach activities in general:

"...it allows for more relationship building because I'll be able to do more outreach, maybe, like, small group things. I can get to practice, other clinicians can get to practices that I can't get to... you can really divvy up tasks, you know, like what people are doing."

Regardless of the specific number of additional practitioners universities need, Myles reiterated the importance of having enough resources in the form of practitioners:

"...this is always a bell that I'm ringing, uh, within our athletic department is, put your money where your mouth is and actually walk the walk... if we're saying, like, "we value mental health" then value mental health, um, invest in mental health. Invest in resources so that... something doesn't happen because of a lack of resources... you need people. You need boots on the ground. You need people doing the work."

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The purpose of the current study was to examine practitioners' experiences working with Division I male athletes as well as understand their perceptions into what strategies are most effective in making professional psychological help services more easily accessible to them. This section presents the major findings into what presenting concerns male athletes most commonly seek out support for, practitioners' perspectives regarding the help-seeking influences that most significantly affect a male athletes' willingness to seek out help, and what strategies university athletic departments should begin implementing at their institution to increase male athlete accessibility to support services. Limitations and recommendations for future research are also discussed.

Key Findings

The researcher identified two different categories of concerns that practitioners reported male collegiate athletes most commonly present with: (a) mental health-related concerns and, (b) sport-related concerns. Examples of the most prevalent mental health-related concerns reported by participants include depression, anxiety, substance use, grief and loss, trauma, and suicidal ideation. These findings are similar to previous research that revealed male athletes suffer from a wide range of both clinical and subclinical mental health concerns (Brisola-Santos et al., 2016; Du Preez et al., 2017; Schaal et al., 2011; Wolanin et al., 2016). Despite the presence of several different mental health-related concerns, practitioners reported that male athletes are more likely to pursue support services for sport-specific concerns. Parallel to these results, Gulliver et al. (2012) previously found that athletes are "more comfortable with seeing psychologists for performance-related issues" (p.5). Participants detailed that sport-related concerns may include

anger and frustration, performance anxiety, coping with an injury, adjustment struggles, position on the team, or interpersonal problems, such as with a coach or a teammate.

Practitioners described several different factors that influence a male athlete's willingness to seek out support services as well as what strategies can be implemented to address them. To begin, participants identified stigma as being the most significant influence to male athlete helpseeking with all 10 participants describing how they perceived it to be an ongoing barrier. In particular, perceived stigma appears to be the type of stigma that has the greatest affect on male athletes, such as the fear of being perceived as weak by coaches and teammates. This relates to the findings of López and Levy (2013) in which collegiate athletes reported one of the most significant help-seeking barriers are their concerns with how coaches, teammates, and athletic staff members would perceive them if they were to ask for help. Perceived stigma may extend beyond coaches and teammates and come in the form of societal pressures and expectations put on the athletes. For example, one practitioner explained how male collegiate athletes in particular are oftentimes equated to being a highly privileged subset of individuals that society deems as not necessarily needing or deserving support services. Thus, male athletes may be less likely to take advantage of support services due to the fear of not only being scrutinized by their own coaches and teammates, but by the media and society as well. Another form of stigma that practitioners perceived to affect male athletes' help-seeking behaviors is self-stigma, such as questioning one's own worth and capabilities due to experiencing a mental health-related struggle. This finding aligns with Vogel et al.'s (2007) results that revealed men may internalize stereotypes (i.e., self-stigma) related to having a mental health struggle more fully than women.

In order to address the aforementioned stigma that continues to influence male athletes' access to support services, practitioners proposed various destigmatization and normalization

strategies. For example, two practitioners mentioned bringing high profile athletes to campus to talk directly to the athletes about their own experiences with mental health and the importance of seeking out help. As participants suggested, male athletes in particular may benefit from hearing a highly influential male figure in the athletic community speak to them, such as a professional athlete. Male collegiate athletes in DeLenardo and Terrion's (2014) study shared similar thoughts regarding the value of having a speaker come talk to them. More specifically, the athletes reported that they prefer to hear from someone who plays at the professional level, has had success in their sport despite experiencing mental health-related concerns, and aligns with the values of traditional masculinity, such as being physically strong and tough (DeLenardo & Terrion, 2014).

Practitioners also suggested destignatization by normalizing their roles within a team through increased visibility and integration. Similar to other support staff members, such as athletic trainers, participants described how practitioners should work to be consistently present at various team functions including practices, competitions, and team meetings. Beyond that, engaging directly with individual athletes may help to build rapport and trust between the practitioner and athlete. For example, participants shared how practitioners should make it a priority to introduce themselves to as many individual athletes as they can, conduct consistent check-ins and follow-ups with athletes, and be open to engaging in casual conversations with athletes when appropriate. Similar findings were present in Fifer et al.'s (2008) article in which one sport psychology consultant emphasized the importance of earning the trust of the athletes by first building a relationship with them (Fifer et al., 2008). Two practitioners also emphasized the importance of taking a proactive approach to increase their visibility and integration within a

team. That is, instead of waiting for teams and individual athletes to come to the practitioner, the practitioner should actively work to become integrated within the teams.

Finally, practitioners also discussed the development of athlete-specific support groups to promote destigmatization by helping male athletes in particular to become more comfortable with being vulnerable in a supportive environment. It is important to note that one practitioner mentioned the struggle he experienced when trying to start a male athlete-specific support group at his university in that it was "so hard to get attendance." Practitioners expressed that they may need to find alternative ways to indirectly target male athletes to join various support groups. For example, one practitioner shared that, due to the prominent presence of African American athletes at his university that compete in men's sports, such as football, his staff has developed a Black student-athlete organization that may see more male athletes join.

In addition to stigma, practitioners reported that they believe male athletes are oftentimes heavily influenced by the environment that their coach creates. For example, one participant described how male athletes who play on a team that has a coach who does not believe in the value of engaging in support services are less likely to use such services when they need them. For other coaches, their lack of knowledge and experience in using such services may be a significant help-seeking barrier for male athletes. More specifically, male athletes may not be informed or otherwise made aware that support services are even available on their campuses because of the unfamiliarity that their coach has in using those services. Furthermore, coaches with less background, knowledge, and experience working with practitioners may be more hesitant in integrating them within their teams.

In addition to the coaches, participants also noted the influence that a sport's environment may have on a male athlete's help-seeking behaviors. In particular, one practitioner expressed his

belief that male athletes who participate in sports that are rooted in traditional masculine norms, such as football and basketball, are oftentimes influenced by the culture that that sport creates. DeLenardo and Terrion's (2014) qualitative study found that collegiate football players' help-seeking attitudes are affected by the pressure that male athletes feel to conform to masculine norms. These pressures may come in the form of various messages such as "suck it up" and behaviors such as refusing to show any sign of perceived weakness, including asking for help (DeLenardo & Terrion, 2014). Consequently, male athletes who participate in highly masculinized sports may be even less likely to seek help than those involved in other sports.

While research remains limited regarding the influence coaches have on their athletes' help-seeking behaviors, previous research does suggest that coaches uphold a position that has the power to promote mental health help-seeking to their athletes (Bapat et al., 2009). Thus, practitioners suggested intentional and active efforts be made in targeting coaches to train and educate them on athlete mental health and the support services that are available on campus for those who are might benefit or be interested in such services. Three practitioners discussed how their university athletic departments have already begun to incorporate coach and staff trainings. Such trainings may come in a variety of forms. For example, one practitioner reported how coach training at her university comes by way of individual coach meetings at the beginning of each year wherein she gives several educational presentations to each coaching staff. As she described, her presentations include a review of the university mental health policy, steps on how to refer an athlete who may be struggling, and how coaches can handle both emergency and nonemergency situations. As this practitioner reported, one of the benefits of speaking to individual coaching staffs rather than all of the sport coaches simultaneously includes giving the coaches an opportunity to ask the practitioner specific questions about their team, making it more

individualized. Another participant reported how his university has begun to implement two mandatory mental health-related and suicide prevention trainings for all staff members, including coaches. Through this, coaches are educated on the specific signs and symptoms of various mental health concerns including depression, anxiety, substance use, eating disorders, and suicidal ideation. This practitioner also emphasized the importance of making such trainings mandatory. Reich et al. (2021) recommended similar strategies to educate coaches via the implementation of a variety of psychoeducational workshops, seminars, and trainings that center on athlete-specific stressors, risk factors, signs and symptoms, coping strategies, treatment options, and referral sources that are available.

It is also important to consider how cultural factors may influence a male athletes' willingness to seek out support services. Participants shared their experiences working with male athletes of varying racial and ethnic backgrounds and social classes as well as examples of what cross-cultural help-seeking barriers typically exist for them. These cultural factors closely align with the four categories originally outlined by Leong and Kalibatseva (2011), cognitive, affective, value orientation, and physical or structural. According to Snowden (2001), cognitive barriers embody the belief that mental health struggles can be treated and overcome through willpower, heroic stoicism, or avoidance rather than by the utilization of external support services, such as a licensed practitioner. One participant described an experience in which one of his male clients shared to him how his family does not believe in mental health and therefore, he has been taught to "just tough it out" and "get over it." Thus, male athletes may feel that once they arrive to college, they are capable of handling their struggles on their own. As described by Leong and Kalibatseva (2011), affective barriers include the mistrust that members of ethnic or minority groups may maintain toward the mental health system in general. For example, one

participant in the current study mentioned how African American male athletes are coming to her university from other states and may feel uncertain of where a safe space on campus is to go and talk to somebody. This relates to Wrisberg and Martin's (1994) findings that when, compared to White athletes, African American athletes were more likely to feel unsure of the services offered by a sport psychologist in addition to feeling more hesitant in seeking out help from one. Cultural values also shape one's communication styles and preferences (Leong & Kalibatseva, 2011). Thus, value orientation barriers encompass the belief that in many collectivist-based cultures, one is discouraged from disclosing personal struggles to anyone outside of their trusted cultural group, especially strangers (Leong & Lau, 2001). Two participants discussed how they believe that some male athletes may feel hesitant in speaking to an unfamiliar individual because they were raised in a culture that abstains from doing so. Consequently, they may decide to avoid help-seeking altogether. As Leong and Kalibatseva (2011) further described, the final crosscultural barrier are physical and structural barriers, which may be more closely related to social class than to culture. Racial and ethnic minorities may be more likely to encounter structural barriers, such as a lack of access to and knowledge about available support services (Leong & Kalibatseva, 2011). More specifically, one participant in the current study explained how some male athletes have reported that they come from areas that do not have access to helping professionals, such as counselors or psychologists. Therefore, without prior exposure to and experience with engaging in support services, male athletes may not be aware of how to go about using these resources although they are readily available to them.

In order to address the aforementioned cultural factors that were discussed, practitioners proposed different strategies to implement on campuses, including practitioner diversity and athlete service awareness and education. In relation to practitioner diversity, participants

mentioned how universities should take into consideration employing a diverse range of practitioners specifically in terms of gender identity, racial identity, and sexual orientation. Three practitioners reported the influence that a practitioner's gender may have on a male athlete's willingness to seek out and use support services. In particular, one practitioner shared how male athletes may feel more comfortable speaking to a male provider because he may "get it" but she has also heard male athletes tell her that it is easier for them to talk to female providers. Another practitioner reported that he believes male athletes are more comfortable speaking to a female practitioner. Congruent with DeLenardo and Terrion's (2014) findings, one male athlete reported that he "would have to talk to a female when it came to actually receiving help" (p. 51). In general, little research has examined whether or not male athletes strongly prefer a particular provider in terms of gender. Thus, as one practitioner proposed, universities should consider employing both male and female providers to allow the athletes the option on who they feel most comfortable reaching out to. It is also important to acknowledge practitioner diversity in terms of race. As one participant pointed out, he believes that some male athletes are more likely to seek out help if there are providers of color on staff. This may be especially true for racial and ethnic minority athletes. As another practitioner explained, male athletes may initially feel more comfortable reaching out for help from someone who looks like them. Wade and Bernstein (1991) examined the existence of racial preferences in counselors for clients of color and found that African American clients were less likely to return for a second visit with a White counselor than with an African American counselor, suggesting a preference for a same race counselor. Thus, in addition to gender, universities should also consider incorporating racial diversity within their support staff as well. Finally, one practitioner proposed that universities should consider employing an openly gay or lesbian practitioner. However, research remains nonexistent

regarding the influences that LGBTQ+ practitioners have on athletes' help-seeking attitudes or behavior.

In order to further address additional cultural factors that may influence a male athletes' accessibility to support services, such as a lack of access to and experience with using such services, practitioners suggested various service awareness and education strategies that target the athletes. For example, one practitioner described how she introduces herself to some of the teams on campus by engaging them in some sort of catchy activity at the beginning of the year so they remember who she is. Another practitioner mentioned how he engages in service awareness and education through introductory presentations that inform the athletes on what types of services he provides, the benefits of using such services, and how the athletes can contact him if they need support. While such awareness can come in the form of educational presentations and team activities, some practitioners suggested a more personal approach with athletes. For instance, three practitioners reported how they have begun to incorporate service awareness and education into each athlete's mental health screening at the beginning of the year. More specifically, one participant shared how all freshmen and transfer athletes at his university are required to complete a mental health screening in which he takes the opportunity to meet with each athlete, introduce himself as well as the services that he and his staff provides, and offer ways in which the athlete can contact him. A different practitioner reported how his staff has added a question to their mental health screening on whether or not the athlete would like a member from the counseling or sport psychology staff to reach out to them and set up an appointment. Practitioners explained the benefits of engaging in service awareness and education during mental health screenings as allowing the athletes to discuss sensitive topics and ask

questions in a safe environment, introducing them to the services that are available, and building an immediate connection with each of the athletes.

Consistent with previous research, a lack of time and flexibility are additional helpseeking barriers for male collegiate athletes. Participants reported this barrier being shared amongst both athletes and practitioners. For athletes, their schedules are flooded with sportrelated demands, academic-related responsibilities, and the desire to pursue a normal college life, including participating in social events, joining clubs, and spending time with friends and family. The expectations and responsibilities that collegiate athletes are required to juggle on a daily basis make it a challenge for them to find the time to seek out support services. Furthermore, as one practitioner noted, most university support centers only operate for a set number of hours each week, such as an eight-to-five schedule. Thus, although support services may be available for athletes, some may not obtain the time or flexibility to take advantage of them. López and Levy (2013) shared similar findings in that athletes identified a lack of time to seek services as the most significant barrier to help-seeking. It is also important to take into consideration that practitioners also struggle with finding the time and flexibility in their schedules to accommodate for the needs of every individual athlete. More specifically, participants detailed the challenge of trying to find a balance between several responsibilities including conducting team sessions, participating in staff meetings, developing educational workshops and programming, attending multiple team practices and games throughout the week, as well conducting intakes with new clients and scheduling appointments with returning clients. When compared to the number of other support staff members that each team has, such as athletic trainers and strength and conditioning coaches, participants feel grossly understaffed at their universities with some sharing that they are the only practitioner on staff at their institution. Furthermore, two

participants reported how their positions are split between the counseling center and the athletic department, making it an impossible feat for them to focus their work solely on athletes. When it comes to working with male athletes, two practitioners discussed the demand that they have for immediate service availability. That is, when compared to female athletes, male athletes are more likely to expect to receive services the day that they request them and, while some practitioners are able to accommodate for these demands, many are not. As a result, practitioners may risk losing the referral altogether.

All 10 participants emphasized the need for additional practitioners on staff in order to address the concerns that participants have toward not having sufficient time or flexibility. Although participants agree that more staff members are required, it appears that the actual number of practitioners that are needed remains up for debate. For instance, one practitioner suggested a ratio of one clinician to every 50 athletes on campus while a different practitioner proposed each team should have their own designated practitioner. Meanwhile, another participant proposed that instead of targeting a specific number of staff members, universities should work to develop a department comprised of a combination of professionals, including sport psychologists, social workers, and specialized counselors. To date, little remains known about the ideal number of support staff members that should be employed to maximize collegiate athletes' accessibility to support services. However, as one participant explains, increasing the number of staff members may allow practitioners more time to engage in other strategies to increase accessibility for male athletes, such as the ability to be more present at team events.

An additional influence to help-seeking for male athletes is the source of referral.

Oftentimes, male athletes do not seek out support services on their own. Instead, they are encouraged to do so and are referred by others to pursue using such services. More specifically,

eight out of 10 participants reported that the biggest sources of referral for male athletes are either coaches or athletic trainers. This finding is similar to Daltry et al.'s (2021) which revealed that male athletes' most common sources of referral are coaches (40%) and athletic trainers (18%). It appears as though the individuals who have the most interaction with male athletes are the ones male athletes feel most comfortable confiding in when they are struggling, thus leading to a referral.

An additional strategy to increase male athletes' access to support services is through the building of relationships with all members of a team including the athletes, coaches, and other support staff members. To illustrate the importance of building relationships with male athletes, one participant noted how most of the male athlete-clients he works with are on account of rapport he has built with them through working with their teams. More specifically, he reports how he prioritizes introducing himself to the team so they are aware of who he is and what he looks like. Congruent with this, another participant emphasizes the importance of facial recognition. Male athletes who are cognizant of what the practitioner on staff looks like may be more likely to reach out to them. Thus, one participant explained how his staff hands out postcards to athletes with their name, face, and contact information on them so they are able "to put a name with a face." In addition to athletes, it is also important for practitioners to build and maintain relationships with coaches. As one practitioner explained, because collegiate athletes eventually graduate and depart from the team, coaches at the college level tend to be more stable. Thus, targeting coaches for rapport-building efforts may be key. Moreover, one practitioner stated how maintaining relationships with coaches is a year-round effort in which practitioners should work to consistently keep in touch with coaches, both in and out of season. Finally, building relationships with other support staff members of a team, including athletic trainers,

academic advisors, and strength and conditioning coaches, is imperative for practitioners. As one practitioner shares, a close relationship with trainers and administrators means that even if an athlete forgets that the practitioner exists, the athletes will still be guided in their direction by other members of the team through a referral.

Practical Implications

The results of this study provide several implications for university athletic departments and practitioners to increase accessibility to support services for male athletes. To date, this is the first study that has qualitatively examined NCAA Division I practitioners' experiences working with male collegiate athletes and has expanded on previous research by exploring what strategies can be implemented in university settings to help male athletes more easily access support services. A number of different strategies have been proposed by practitioners to increase male athletes' accessibility to support services. These strategies include destigmatization, coach training, practitioner diversity, additional practitioners, relationship-building, and service awareness and education. In order to begin to implement these strategies into university settings, practitioners and university athletic departments alike need to be willing to invest both time and resources. Thus, practical implications for practitioners are discussed first, followed by those for university athletic departments.

In order to maximize male collegiate athletes' accessibility to support services, practitioners should focus their work on integrating themselves into the teams and building relationships with athletes, coaches, and other support staff members. It is important for practitioners to take a proactive approach. Based on the findings of this study, it is clear that male athletes are more likely to seek out support services through the referral of a coach or an athletic trainer. Thus, in the case that a practitioner is limited by time and flexibility and is not

able to be fully integrated with a certain team, their relationship with the coach and other staff members will prove to be critical in ensuring that the athletes are aware of who the practitioner is and how they can reach out to them if they need to. Practitioners also need to prioritize educating athletes on the services that are provided for them. While Division I athletes have access to such services, many of them are not aware of when to use them, how to use them, or who to reach out to when they need to use them. Thus, consistent awareness and education for athletes is imperative.

University athletic departments must make it a priority to invest in employing enough practitioners. Due to the lack of research that exists in recognizing how many practitioners is ideal to have on staff, universities may be required to configure this number on an individual basis predicated on financial capabilities and the number of athletes at the institution. University athletic departments should also attempt to incorporate practitioner diversity at their institution when possible, including gender, race, and sexual orientation. Furthermore, mandatory coach trainings should be implemented with the intention of providing coaching staffs with the tools needed to recognize the signs and symptoms of mental health-related concerns, how to make a referral, and what to do in a crisis situation. Finally, athletic departments may also consider destigmatization strategies, including inviting athlete guest speakers to campus to talk directly to individual teams.

Limitations

The current study did not go without limitations. For one, the participant sample lacked diversity as a majority of the practitioners were White (n=9) and male (n=7). Another potential limitation to the study is recall bias. That is, practitioners were asked some questions that required them to reflect on their previous experiences working with male athletes, some of which

dated back for several years. Therefore, some participants may have had a hard time accurately reporting some of these experiences. Practitioners' responses may also be influenced by the biases that they possess based on their personal experiences. A final limitation to note is that although several of the strategies that have been proposed by practitioners are ones that they have already implemented at their universities, most of them have yet to be studied for effectiveness in increasing accessibility for the male collegiate athlete population specifically.

Future Directions

To date, minimal research has examined practitioner's experiences working with male athletes and what strategies can be implemented to increase their accessibility to support services. Despite some of the practitioners in this study having experience carrying out the strategies they proposed to help increase male athlete accessibility to support services, these strategies have yet to be examined through research. Thus, future research can aim to explore the effectiveness of each. Furthermore, as this study targeted practitioners working with male athletes, future research should aim to target the male athletes themselves to better understand what barriers they have experienced in attempting to seek out help as well as their perspectives on what strategies would best help them to more easily access support services.

Conclusion

The present study examined the experiences of NCAA Division I sport psychologists working with male athletes. Through this, practitioners reported on what concerns male athletes struggle with, what factors most significantly influence their willingness to engage in help-seeking, and what strategies can be undertaken to increase their accessibility to support services. Participants discussed a number of mental health- and sport-related concerns that male collegiate athletes face that which warrant the need for professional help. However, several barriers

continue to plague the male athlete population and prevent them from seeking out help. More specifically, practitioners mentioned stigma as being the most significant help-seeking influence in addition to coach and sport environment, cultural factors, lack of time and flexibility, and the source of referral. In order to combat existing help-seeking barriers and increase support service accessibility for male collegiate athletes, practitioners proposed several different strategies.

REFERENCES

- Abdullah, T. & Brown, T. L. (2011). Mental illness stigma and ethnocultural beliefs, values, and norms: An integrative review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *31*(6), 934-938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.05.003
- Adams, C., Coffee, P., & Lavallee, D. (2015). Athletes' perceptions about the availability of support during within-career transitions. *Sport and Exercise Psychology Review*, 11(2), 37-48.
- Addis, M. (2011). Invisible men: Men's inner lives and the consequences of silence. Macmillan.
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(3), 121-127.
- American College of Sports Medicine. (2021, August 9). The American College of Sports

 Medicine statement on mental health challenges for athletes.

 https://www.acsm.org/new-detail/2021/08/09/the-american-college-of-sports-medicine-statement-on-mental-health-challenges-for-athletes
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (DSM-5). Washington, D. C.: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Andersen, M. B. & Williams, J. M. (1988). A model of stress and athletic injury: Prediction and prevention. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *10*, 294-306. https://doi.org/10/1123/jsep/10.3.294
- Appaneal, R. N., Levine, B. R., Perna, F. M., & Roh, J. L. (2009). Measuring post injury depression among male and female competitive athletes. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 31(10), 60-76. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsep.31.1.60
- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using Zoom

- videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: Perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 18*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Ardern, C. L., Taylor, N. F., Feller, J. A., & Webster, K. E. (2012). Return-to-sport outcomes at 2 to 7 years after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 40, 41-48. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546511422999
- Armstrong, S. N., Burcin, M. M., Bjerke, W., & Oomen-Early, J. (2015). Depression in student-athletes: A systematic review of the literature. *Athletic Insight*, 7(2), 177-193.
- Bapat, S., Jorm, A. F., Lawrence, K. (2009). Evaluation of a mental health literacy training program for junior sporting clubs. *Australasian Psychiatry*, *17*(6), 475-479. https://doi.org/10.1080/10398560902964586
- Barnard, J. D. (2016). Student-athletes' perceptions of mental illness and attitudes toward help-seeking. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 30(3), 161-175. https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2016.1177421
- Baron, D. A., Reardon, C. L., & Baron, S. H. (Eds.). (2013). Clinical sports psychiatry: An international perspective.
- Baum, A. (2006). Eating disorders in the male athlete. *Sports Medicine*, *36*, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200636010-00001
- Beals, K. A. & Manore, M. M. (2002). Disorders of the female athlete triad among collegiate athletes. *International Journal of Sport, Nutrition, and Exercise Metabolism, 12*, 281-293. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijsnem.12.3.281
- Beck, A. T., Ward, C. H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., & Erbaugh, J. (1961). An inventory for measuring depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *4*, 561-571.

- https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004
- Benson, E. (2003). The many faces of perfectionism. Monitor on Psychology, 34(10), 18.
- Berger, J. L., Addis, M. E., Green, J. D., Mackowiak, C., & Goldberg, V. (2013). Men's reactions to mental health labels, forms of help-seeking, and sources of help-seeking advice. *Psychology of Men and Masculinities*, *14*(4), 433-443. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0030175
- Bird, M. D., Chow, G. M., Meir, G., & Freeman, J. (2018). Student-athlete and student non-athletes' stigma and attitudes toward seeking online and face-to-face counseling. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 12(3), 347-364. https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2017-0010
- Bishop, G. (2018, June 26). A college QB's suicide. A family's search for answers. *Sports Illustrated*, 129(1), 26-34.
 - https://www.si.com/college/2018/06/26/tyler-hilinski-suicide-washington-state-qb-cte
- Brenner, J. & Swanik, K. (2007). High-risk drinking characteristics in collegiate athletes.

 Journal of American College Health, 56(3), 267-272.

 https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.56.3.267-272
- Brewer, B. W. & Cornelius, A. E. (2001). Norms and factorial invariance of the Athletic Identity

 Measurement Scale (AIMS). *Academic Athletic Journal*, *15*, 103-113.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1612197X.2012.705518
- Brewer, B. W., Cornelius, A. E., Sklar, J. H., Van Raalte, J. L., Tennen, H., Armeli, S., Corsetti, J. R., & Brickner, J. C. (2007). Pain and negative mood during rehabilitation after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: A daily process analysis. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 17, 520-529.

- https://doi.org/10.1111.j.1600-0838.2006.00601.x
- Brewer, B. W., Cornelius, A. E., Van Raalte, J. L., Petitpas, A. J., Sklar, J. H., Pohlman, M. H., Krushell, R. J., & Ditmar, T. D. (2003). Age-related differences in predictors of adherence to rehabilitation after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 38, 158-162.
- Brewer, B. W., Van Raalte, J. L., Cornelius, A. E., Petitpas, A. J., Sklar, J. H., Pohlman, M. H., Krushell, R. J., & Ditmar, T. D. (2000). Psychological factors, rehabilitation adherence, and rehabilitation outcome after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 45, 20. https://doi.org/10.1037/0090-5550.45.1.20
- Brisola-Santos, M. B., Gallinaro, J. G., Gil, F., Sampaio-Junior, B., Marin, M. C. D., de
 Andrade, A. G., Richter, K. P., Glick, I. D., Baltieri, D. A., & Castaldelli-Maia, J. M.
 (2016). Prevalence and correlates of cannabis use among athletes: A systematic review.
 The American Journal on Addictions, 25(7), 518-528. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12425
- Brower, K. J., Eliopoulos, G. A., Blow, F. C. Catlin, D. H., & Beresford, T. P. (1990). Evidence for physical and psychological dependence on anabolic androgenic steroids in eight weight lifters. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *147*(4), 510-512. https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.147.4.510
- Brown, G. (2014). *Mind, body, and sport: Understanding and supporting student-athlete mental wellness.* National Collegiate Athletic Association.
- Buysse, D., Reynolds III, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., & Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The

 Pittsburgh sleep quality index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research.

 Psychiatry Research, 28(2), 193-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Candela, A. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3),

- 619-628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726
- Champion, V. & Skinner, C. S. (2008). The Health Belief Model. In: Glanz, K., Rimer, B., Viswanath, K., eds. Health behavior and health education. 4. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chang, C., Putukian, M., Aerni, G., Diamond, A., Hong, G., Ingram, Y., Reardon, C. L., &
 Wolanin, A. (2020). Mental health issues and psychological factors in athletes: Detection,
 management, effect on performance and prevention: American Medical Society for
 Sports Medicine position statement-- Executive summary. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54, 216-220. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-101583
- Chatterton, J. M. & Petrie, T. A. (2013). Prevalence of disordered eating and pathogenic weight control behaviors among male collegiate athletes. *The Journal of Treatment and Prevention*, 21(4), 328-341. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2013.797822
- Choi, P. Y. L., Parrott, A. C., Cowan, & Cowen, D. (1990). High-dose anabolic steroids in strength athletes: Effects upon hostility and aggression. *Human Psychopharmacology:* Clinical and Experimental, 5(4), 349-356. https://doi.org/10.1002/hup.470050407
- Coakley, J. (2004). Sports in society: Issues and controversies (8th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 24, 385-396. https://doi.org/10.2307/2136404
- Comeaux, E. (2010). Mentoring as an intervention strategy. *Journal for the Study of Sports and Athletes in Education*, 4(3), 257-275. https://doi.org/10.1179/ssa.2010.4.3.257
- Comeaux, E. & Harrison, C. K. (2011). A conceptual model of academic success for student-athletes. *Educational Researcher*, 40(5), 235-245.

- https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X11415260
- Comeaux, E., Speer, L., Taustine, M., & Harrison, C. K. (2011). Purposeful engagement of first-year division I student-athletes. *Journal of the First-Year Experience and Students in Transition*, 23(1), 35-52.
- Corrigan, P. W. & Wassel, A. (2008). Understanding and influencing the stigma of mental illness. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services*, 46(1), 42-48. https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20080101-04
- Corrigan, P. W. & Watson, A. C. (2002). Understanding the impact of stigma on people with mental illness. *World Psychiatry*, *I*(1), 16-20.
- Costa, A. L. & Kallic, B. (1993). Through the lens of a critical friend. *Educational Leadership*, 51(2), 49-51.
- Cox, C. E., Foltz, B. D., & Ross-Stewart, L. (2017). Investigating the prevalence and risk factors of depression symptoms among NCAA Division I collegiate athletes. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *5*, 14-28. https://doi.org/17265/2332-7839/2017.01.002
- Cuijpers, P. & Smit, F. (2008). Subclinical depression: A clinically relevant condition? *Tijdschrift Voor Psychiatrie*, 50(8), 519-528.
- Daltry, R. M., Mehr, K. E., & Keenan, L. (2021). Student-athletes and counseling services:

 Recommendations for identifying and developing referral sources. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2021.1957338
- Davoren, A. K. & Hwang, S. (2014). Depression and anxiety prevalence in student-athletes. In G. T. Brown (Ed.), *Mind, body, and sport: Understanding and supporting student-athlete mental wellness*, 38-39. Indianapolis, IN: NCAA.
- DeCuir-Gunby, J. T., Marshall, P. L., & Mcculloch, A. W. (2011). Developing and using a

- codebook for the analysis of interview data: An example from a professional development research project. *Field Methods*, *23*(2), 136-155. https://doi.org/1177/1525822X10388468
- DeLenardo, S. & Terrion, J. L. (2014). Suck it up: Opinions and attitudes about mental illness stigma and help-seeking behaviour of male varsity football players. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health*, 33(3), 43-56. https://doi.org/10.7870/cjcmh-2014-023
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction with Life Scale.

 Journal of Personality Assessment, 49(1), 71-75.

 https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa4901_13
- Domenech, J., Sanchis-Alfonso, V., López, L., & Espejo, B. (2013). Influence of kinesiophobia and catastrophizing on pain and disability in anterior knee pain patients. *Knee Surgery Sports Traumatology Arthroscopy*, *21*, 1562-1568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-012-2238-5
- Druckman, J. N., Gilli, M., Klar, S., & Robison, J. (2015). Measuring drug and alcohol use among college student-athletes. *Social Science Quarterly*, *96*(2), 369-380.
- Dubuc-Charbonneau, N. & Durand-Bush, N. (2015). Moving to action: The effects of a self-regulation intervention on the stress, burnout, well-being and self-regulation capacity levels of university student-athletes. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 9, 173-192.
- Dunkley, D. M., Zuroff, D. C., & Blankstein, K. R. (2003). Self-critical perfectionism and daily affect: Dispositional and situational influences on stress and coping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 234-252. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.1.234
- Du Preez, E. J., Graham, K. S., Gan, T. Y., Moses, B., Ball, C., & Kuah, D. E. (2017).

- Depression, anxiety, and alcohol use in elite rugby league players over a competitive season. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, *27*(6), 530-535. https://doi.org/10.1097/JSM.000000000000011
- Eitzen, D. S. (2009). Fair and foul: Beyond the myths and paradoxes of sport. New York: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Elashoff, J. D., Jacknow, A. D., Shain, S. G., & Braunstein, G. D. (1991). Effects of anabolic-androgenic steroids on muscular strength. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *115*, 387-393. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-115-5-387
- Elman, J. (2020). The tragic death of Washington State QB Tyler Hilinski shook college football.

 Sportscasting.

 https://www/sportscasting/com/the-tragic-death-of-washington-state-qb-tyler-hilinski-shook-college-football/
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014). Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 4*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Endler, N. S. & Parker, J. D. A. (1999). CISS: *Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations manual* (2nd ed.). Toronto: Multi-Health Systems.
- Evans, L. & Hardy, L. (1995). Sport injury and grief responses: A review. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 17, 227-245.
- Fifer, A., Henschen, K., Gould, D., & Ravizza, K. (2008). What works when working with athletes. *The Sport Psychologist*, 22, 356-377. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.22.3.356
- Fischer, E. H. & Turner, J. L. (1970). Orientations to seeking professional help: Development and research utility of an attitude scale. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*,

- 35, 79-90. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0029636
- Fogaca, J. L. (2019). Combining mental health and performance interventions: Coping and social support for student-athletes. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2019.1648326
- Ford, J. A. (2007). Substance use among college athletes: A comparison based on sport/team affiliation. *Journal of American College Health*, *55*(6), 367-373. https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.55.6.367-373
- Ford, J. L., Ildefonso, K., Jones, M. L., & Arvinen-Barrow, M. (2017). Sport-related anxiety:

 Current insights. *Journal of Sports Medicine*, 8, 205-212.

 https://doi/org/10.2147/OAJSM.S125845
- Forsman, L. & Johnson, M. (1996). Dimensionality and validity of two scales measuring different aspects of self-esteem. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *37*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9450.1996.tb00635.x
- Francis, N. C. (1992). Collegiate soccer players' perceptions of sport psychology, sport psychologists, and sport psychology services. Unpublished master's thesis, University of North Carolina, Greensboro.
- Frost, R. O., Heimberg, R. G., Holt, C. S., Mattia, J. I., & Neubauer, A. L. (1993). A comparison of two measures of perfectionism. *Personality and Individual Differences, 14*, 119-126. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(93)90181-2
- Frost, R. O. & Henderson, K. J. (1991). Perfectionism and reactions to athletic competition.

 Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 13, 323-335.

 https://doi/org/10.1123/jsep.13.4.323
- Frost, R. O., Marten, P., Lahart, C., & Rosenblate, R. (1990). The dimensions of perfectionism.

- *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 14*, 449-468. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01172967
- Furukawa, T. A., Kawakami, N., Saitoh, M., Ono, Y., Nakane, Y., Nakamura, Y., Tachimori, H., Iwata, N., Uda, H., Nakane, H., Watanabe, M., Naganuma, Y., Hata, Y., Kobayashi, M., Miyake, Y., Takeshima, T., & Kikkawa, T. (2008). The performance of the Japanese version of the K6 and K10 in the World Mental Health Survey Japan. *International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research*, 17(3), 152-158.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mpr.257
- Galli, N., Petrie, T. A., Greenleaf, C., Reel, J. J., & Carter, J. E. (2014). Personality and psychological correlates of eating disorder symptoms among male collegiate athletes. *Eating Behaviors*, *15*(4), 615-618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2014.08.007
- Garner, D. M., Olmsted, M. P., Bohr, Y., & Garfinkel, P. E. (1982). The eating attitudes test:

 Psychometric features and clinical correlates. *Psychological Medicine*, *12*(4), 871-878.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291700049163
- Gayles, J. G. & Hu, S. (2009). The influence of student engagement and sport participation on college outcomes among division I student athletes. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 80(3), 315-333. https://doi.org/10.1353/jhe.0.0051
- Galambos, S. A., Terry, P. C., Moyle, G. M., Locke, S. A., & Lane, A. M., (2005). Psychological predictors of injury among elite athletes. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *39*, 351-354. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2005.018440
- Gibbons, C. (2015). Stress, eustress and the National Student Survey. *Psychology Teaching Review*, 21(2), 86-92.
- Gill, D. L. & Deeter, T. E. (1988). Development of the Sport Orientation Questionnaire.

 *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 59(3), 191-202.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1988.10605504
- Givens, J. L. & Tija, J. (2002). Depressed medical students' use of mental health services and barriers to use. *Academic Medicine*, 77, 918-921. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001888-2002090000-00024
- Goldman, S. (2014). Anxiety disorders. *Mind, Body, and Sport: Understanding and Supporting Student-Athlete Mental Wellness*. NCAA. 29-31.
- Gould, D., Hodge, K., Peterson, K., & Petlichkoff, L. (1987). Psychological foundations of coaching: Similarities and differences among intercollegiate wrestling coaches. *The Sport Psychologist*, 1, 293-308. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.1.4.293
- Gould, D., Murphy, S., Tammen, V., & May, J. (1991). An evaluation of the U.S. Olympic sport psychology consultant effectiveness. *The Sport Psychologist*, *5*, 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.5.2.111
- Gouttebarge, V., Aoki, H., Ekstrand, J., Verhagen, E., & Kerkhoffs, G. (2016). Are severe musculoskeletal injuries associated with symptoms of common mental disorders among male European professional footballers? *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy: Official Journal of the ESSKA*, 24(12), 3934-3942. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00167-015-3729-y
- Grady, M. P. (1998). Qualitative and action research: A practitioner handbook. Bloomington, IN:

 Phi Delta Kappa Educational Foundation.
- Gray, L. M., Wong-Wylie, G., Rempel, G. R., & Cook, K. (2020). Expanding qualitative research interviewing strategies: Zoom video communications. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(5), 1292-1301. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596
- Gross, K. D., Rubin, L. M., & Weese, A. P. (2020). College athletes and suicide prevention: A

- collaborative autoethnography. Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics, 82-97.
- Gulliver, A., Griffiths, K. M., & Christensen, H. (2012). Barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking for young elite athletes: A qualitative study. *BMC Psychiatry*, *12*, 157-170. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471/244X-12-157
- Gulliver, A., Griffiths, K. M., Mackinnon, A., Batterham, P. J., Stanimirovic, R. (2015). The mental health of Australian elite athletes. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 18(3), 255-261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.04.006
- Guthrie, S. (1991). Prevalence of eating disorders among intercollegiate athletes: Contributing factors and preventative measures. In D. Black (Ed.), *Eating disorders among athletes,*American alliance for health, physical education, recreation and dance, 43-67. Reston,

 VA.
- Halvari, H. & Gjesme, T. (1995). Trait and state anxiety before and after competitive performance. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *81*, 1059-1074. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1995.81.3f.1059
- Hartgens, F. & Kuipers, H. (2004). Effects of androgenic-anabolic steroids in athletes. *Sports Medicine*, *34*(8), 513-554. https://doi.org/10.2165.00007256-200434080-00003
- Hatteberg, S. (2020). "There's no way I can do all of this": The perceived impacts of stress exposure on the academic development of collegiate athletes. *Journal of Issues in Intercollegiate Athletics*, 7-28.
- Hayden, E. W., Kornspan, A. S., Bruback, Z. T., Parent, M. C., & Rodgers, M. (2013). The existence of sport psychology services among NCAA Division I FBS university athletic departments and counseling centers. *The Sport Psychologist*, 27, 296-304. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.27.3.296

- Hilliard, R. C., Redmond, L. A., & Watson II, J. C. (2019). Differences in stigma and attitudes toward counseling between college student-athletes and nonathletes. *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy*, 33(4), 332-339.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2018.1504639
- Hodge, K. & Smith, W. Public expectation, pressure, and avoiding the choke: A case study from elite sport. *The Sport Psychologist*, 28(4), 375-389. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.2014-0005
- Hosick, M. B. (2019, January 24). Access to mental health services guaranteed by autonomy conferences. NCAA.

 https://www.ncaa.org/about/resources/media-center/news/access-mental-health-services-
- Hughes, R. & Coakley, J. (1991). Positive deviance among athletes: The implications of overconformity to the sport ethic. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, 8(4), 307-325. https://doi.org/10.1123/ssj.8.4.307

guaranteed-autonomy-conferences

- Humphrey, J. H., Yow, D. A., & Bowden, W. W. (2000). Stress among college athletes. In *Stress in college athletics: Causes, consequences, coping* (pp. 35-47). Haworth Half-Court Press.
- Hwang, S. & Choi, Y. (2016). Data mining in the exploration of stressors among NCAA student athletes. *Psychological Reports*, *119*(3), 787-803. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294116674776
- Ivarsson, A., Johnson, U., Andersen, M. B., Tranaeus, U., Stenling, A., & Lindwall, M. (2017).
 Psychosocial factors and sport injuries: Meta-analyses for prediction and prevention.
 Sports Medicine, 47, 353-365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0578-x
- Jorm, A. F., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., Christensen, H., Rodgers, B., & Pollitt, P. (1997).

- Mental health literacy: A survey of the public's ability to recognise mental disorders and their beliefs about the effectiveness of treatment. *The Medical Journal of Australia*, *166*(4), 182-186. https://doi.org/10.5694/j.1326-5377.1997.tb140071.x
- Joy, E., Kussman, A., & Nattiv, A. (2016). 2016 update on eating disorders in athletes: A comprehensive narrative review with a focus on clinical assessment and management.
 British Journal of Sports Medicine, 50, 154-162.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095735
- Jung, H., von Sternberg, K., & Davis, K. (2016). Expanding a measure of mental health literacy:

 Development and validation of a multicomponent mental health literacy measure.

 Psychiatry Research, 243, 278-286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.06.034
- Junge, A. & Feddermann-Demont, N. (2016). Prevalence of depression and anxiety in top-level male and female football players. BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2015-000087
- Junge, A. & Prinz, B. (2019). Depression and anxiety symptoms in 17 teams of female football players including 10 German first league teams. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *53*, 471-477. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098033
- Kaplan, H. I. & Sadock, B. J. (1998). *Synopsis of psychiatry: Behavioral sciences/Clinical psychiatry*. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Kerr, Z. Y., DeFreese, J. D., & Marshall, S. W. (2014). Current physical and mental health of former collegiate athletes. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*, 2(8). https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967114544107
- Kimball, A. & Freysinger, V. J. (2003). Leisure, stress, and coping: The sport participation of collegiate student-athletes. *Leisure Sciences*, 25, 115-141.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400306569
- Kohn, P. M., Lafreniere, K., & Gurevich, M. (1990). The inventory of college student's recent life experiences: A decontaminated hassles scale for a special population. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *13*, 619-630. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00844738
- Koivula, N., Hassmén, P., & Fallby, J. (2002). Self-esteem and perfectionism in elite athletes: Effects on competitive anxiety and self-confidence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(5), 865-875. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00092-7
- Kouri, E. M., Lukas, S. E., Pope Jr., H. G., & Oliva, P. S. (1995). Increased aggressive responding in male volunteers following the administration of gradually increasing doses of testosterone cypionate. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 40(1), 73-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/0376-8716(95)01192-7
- Krentz, E. M. & Warschburger, P. (2011). Sports-related correlates of disordered eating in aesthetic sports. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 12, 375-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.03.004
- Kübler-Ross (1969). On death and dying. New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Kroshus, E. (2014). Risk factors in the sport environment. In G.T. Brown (Ed.) *Mind, body and sport: Understanding and supporting student-athlete mental wellness*, 73-75.

 Indianapolis, IN: NCAA.
- Kuh, G. D., (2008). High-impact educational practices: What they are, who has access to them, and why they matter. *Association of American Colleges and Universities*, 14(3), 28-29.
- Kvale, S. (2007). *Doing Interviews*. Sage Publications, London.
- Lazarus, R. S. & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York, NY: Springer.
- Lebrun, F., MacNamara, A., Rodgers, S., & Collins, D. (2018). Learning from elite athletes'

- experience of depression. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02062
- Leddy, M. H., Lambert, M. J., & Ogles, B. M. (1994). Psychological consequences of athletic injury among high-level competitors. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 65(4), 347-354. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1994.10607639
- LeFevre, M., Kolt, G., & Matheny, J. (2006). Eustress, distress, and their interpretation in primary and secondary occupation stress management interventions: Which way first?

 Journal of Managerial Psychology, 21(6), 547-565.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940610684391
- Leichliter, J. S., Meilman, P. W., Presley, C. A., & Cashin, J. R. (1998). Alcohol use and related consequences among students with varying levels of involvement in college athletics.

 Journal of American College Health, 46(6), 257-262.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/07448489809596001
- Leong, F. & Kalibatseva, Z. (2011). Cross-cultural barriers to mental health services in the United States. *Cerebrum: The Dana Forum on Brain Science*, 5.
- Leong, F. & Lau, A. (2001). Barriers to providing effective mental health services to Asian Americans. *Mental Health Services Research*, *3*, 201-214. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1013177014788
- LeViness, P., Bershad, C., Gorman, K., Braun, L., & Murray, T. (2018). *The Association for University and College Counseling Center Directors annual survey*. Retrieved from https://www.aucccd.org/assets/documents/Survey/2018%20AUCCCD%20Survey-Public-une%2012-FINAL.pdf

- Levy, A., Polman, R., & Clough, P. (2008). Adherence to sport injury rehabilitation programs:

 An integrated psycho-social approach. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 18, 798-809. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838/2007.00704.x
- Li, H., Moreland, J. J., Peek-Asa, C., & Yang, J. (2017). Preseason anxiety and depressive symptoms and prospective injury risk in collegiate athletes. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 45(9), 2148-2155. https://doi.org/10.1177/0363546517702847
- Lincoln, Y. S. & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Lopes Dos Santos, M., Uftring, M., Stahl, C. A., Lockie, R. G., Alvar, B., Mann, J. B., & Dawes, J. J. (2020). Stress in academic and athletic performance in collegiate athletes: A narrative review of sources and monitoring strategies. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, 2, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2020.00042
- López, R. L. & Levy, J. J. (2013). Student athletes' perceived barriers to and preferences for seeking counseling. *Journal of College Counseling*, 16(1), 19-31. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2013.00024.x
- Luborsky, M. R. & Rubinstein, R. L. (1995). Sampling in qualitative research: Rationale, issues, and methods. *Research on Aging*, *17*(1), 89-113. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027595171005
- Malcolm, N. L. (2006). "Shaking it off" and "toughing it out": Socialization to pain and injury in girls' softball. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, *35*(5), 495-525. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891241605283571
- Malinauskas, R. (2010). The associations among social support, stress, and life satisfaction perceived by injured college athletes. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International*

- Journal, 38(6), 741-752. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.2010.38.6.741
- Maniar, S., Chamberlain, R., & Moore, N. (2005). Suicide risk is real for student-athletes. https://www.ncaa.org/sites/default/files/suicide.pdf
- Martens, R. (1977). Sport Competition Anxiety Test. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Martens, R., Vealey, R., & Burton, D. (1990). Competitive anxiety in sport. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Martin, S. B., Wrisberg, C. A., Beitel, P. A., & Lounsbury, J. (1997). NCAA Division I athletes' attitudes toward seeking sport psychology consultation: The development of an objective instrument. *The Sport Psychologist*, 11, 201-218. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.11.2.201
- Matthews, M. (2018). Michael Phelps opens up about his struggles with depression and thoughts of suicide. Men's Health.
 - https://www.menshealth.com/health/a24268441/michael-phelps-depression/
- McDuff, D. R. & Baron, D. (2005). Substance use in athletics: A sports psychiatry perspective. *Clinics in Sports Medicine*, 24, 885-897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csm.2005.06.004
- Merz, Z. C., Perry, J. E., Brauer, A. H., Montgomery, T. L., Shulze, J., & Ross, M. J. (2020). The cost of mental illness: The public's derogation of athletes with psychological distress.
 Stigma and Health, 5(4), 442-450. https://doi.org/10.1037/sah0000213
- Miles, M.B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Monma, T., Ando, A., Asanuma, T., Yoshitake, Y., Yoshida, G., Miyazawa, T., Ebine, N., Takeda, S., Omi, N., Satoh, M., Tokuyama, K., & Takeda, F. (2018). Sleep disorder risk factors among student athletes. *Sleep Medicine*, *44*, 76-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2017.11.1130

- Montero, H. A. (2018, December 5). Depression in men: The cycle of toxic masculinity. https://www.psycom.net/depression-in-men/depression-in-men-toxic-masculinity/
- Moore, M. (2016). Do psychosocial services make the starting lineup? Providing services to student-athletes. *Journal of Amateur Sport*, 2(2), 50-74. https://doi.org/10.17161/jas.v0i0.5046
- Moss, H., Panazak, G., & Tarter, R. (1992). Personality, mood, psychiatric symptoms among anabolic steroid users. *American Journal of Addiction*, *1*, 315-324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1521-0391.1992.tb00357.x
- Mummery, K. (2005). Essay: Depression in sport. *The Lancet,*https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(05)67840
 3/fulltext#articleInformation
- National Collegiate Athletic Association. (2016). NCAA GOALS study of the student-athlete experience: Initial summary of findings.

 https://www.ncaa.org/sites/default/files/GOALS_2015_summary_jan2016_final_201606

 2pdf
- National Collegiate Athletic Association. (2018). NCAA national study on substance use habits of college student-athletes.

 https://www.ncaa.org/sites/default/files/2017RES_Substance_Use_Executive_Summary_FINAL_20180611.pdf
- National Collegiate Athletic Association (2018). Number of NCAA college athletes reaches all-time high.
 - $https://www.ncaa.org/news/2018/10/10/number-of-ncaa-college-athletes-reaches-all-time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 make\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 make\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 make\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 make\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 up, with\%20 the\%20 up, with\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 up, with\%20 time-high.aspx\#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%20 up, with\%20 time-high.aspx#: \sim: text=Male\%20 student\%2D athletes\%2D at$

- women's%2047%20percent
- National Collegiate Athletic Association. (2020). What do people mean when they use the term 'sports psychologist'?.
 - https://ncaaorg.s3.amazonaws.com/ssi/mental/SSI_SportsPsychologistFS.pdf
- Neal, T. L., Diamond, A. B., Goldman, S., Klossner, D., Morse, E. D., Pajak, D. E., Putukian, M., Quandt, E. F., Sullivan, J. P., Wallack, C., & Welzant, V. (2013). Inter-association recommendations for developing a plan to recognize and refer student-athletes with psychological concerns at the collegiate level: An executive summary of a consensus statement. *Journal of Athletic Training*, 48(5), 716-720.
 https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-48.4.13
- Nelson, T. F. & Wechsler, H. (2001). Alcohol and college athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(1), 43-47. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-2001010000-00008
- Nobiling, B. D. & Maykrantz, S. A. (2017). Exploring perceptions about and behaviors related to mental illness and mental health service utilization among college students using the Health Belief Model (HBM). *American Journal of Health Education*, 48(5), 306-319. https://doi.org/10.1080/19325037.2017.1335628
- Noteboom, J. T., Barnholt, K. R., & Enoka, R. M. (2001). Activation of the arousal response and impairment of performance increase with anxiety and stressor intensity. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *91*, 2093-2101. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2001.91.5.2093
- Ntoumanis, N., Ng, J. Y. Y., Barkoukis, V., & Backhouse, S. (2014). Personal and psychosocial predictors of doping use in physical activity settings: A meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine*, 44, 1603-1624. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0240-4
- O' Brien, C. P. & Lyons, F. (2000). Alcohol and the athlete. Sports Medicine, 29(5), 295-300.

- Pacific 12 Conference. (2015). Student-athletes time demands.

 https://sports.cbsimg.net/images/Pac-12-Student-Athlete-Time-Demands-Obtained-by-CBS-Sports.pdf
- Pappas, S. (2019). *APA issues first-ever guidelines for practice with men and boys*. American Psychological Association. https://www.apa.org/monitor/2019/01/ce-corner
- Paule, A. L. & Gilson, T. A. (2010). Current collegiate experiences of big-time, non-revenue, NCAA athletes. *Journal of Intercollegiate Sport*, *3*(2), 333-347. https://doi.org/10.1123/jis.3.2.333
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 76-85. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2097
- Perry, P. J., Yates, W. R., & Andersen, K. H. (1990). Psychiatric symptoms associated with anabolic steroids: A controlled, retrospective study. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 2(1), 11-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/08971900007304981
- Peters, K. & Halcomb, E. (2015). Interviews in qualitative research. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 6-7. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.4.6.s2
- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher-as-instrument:

 An Exercise in interviewer self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, 12(2), 165-185.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1487941111422107
- Pietrzak, R. H., Kinley, J., Afifi, M., Fawcett, J., & Sareen, J. (2013). Subsyndromal depression in the United States: Prevalence, course, and risk for incident psychiatric outcomes.

 Psychological Medicine, 43(7), 1401-1414. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291712002309
- Pope, H. J. & Katz, D. L. (1994). Psychiatric and medical effects of anabolic-androgenic steroid A Controlled study of 160 athletes. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 51(5), 375-382.

- https://doi/org/10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950050035004
- Presley, C. A., Meilman, P. W., & Lyerla, R. (1994). Development of the Core Alcohol and Drug Survey: Initial findings and future directions. *Journal of American College Health*, 42(6), 248-255. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.1994.9936356
- Prewitt-White, T. R., Fisher, L. A., Odenheimer, E. F., & Buchanan, R. R. (2016). "He just wanted everything to be perfect, me to be perfect": U.S. NCAA Division I athletes' experiences of the father-daughter relationship. *Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology*, 5(2), 144-160. https://doi.org/10.1037/spy0000061
- Proctor, S. L. & Boan-Lenzo, C. (2010). Prevalence of depressive symptoms in male intercollegiate student-athletes and nonathletes. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 4(3), 204-220. https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.4.3.204
- Putukian, M. (2015). The psychological response to injury in student athletes: A narrative review with a focus on mental health. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *50*, 145-148. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095586
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, 1(3), 385-401. https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306
- Rafal, G., Gatto, A., & DeBate, R. (2018). Mental health literacy, stigma, and help-seeking behaviors among male college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 66(4), 284-291. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2018.1434780
- Rao, A., Asif, I. M., Drezner, J. A., Toresdahl, B. G., & Harmon, K. G. (2015). Suicide in National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) athletes: A 9-year analysis of the NCAA resolutions database. Sports Health, 7, 452-457.

- https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738115587675
- Reardon, C. L. (2017). Psychiatric comorbidities in sports. *Neurologic Clinics*, *35*(3), 537-546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncl.2017.03.007
- Reardon, C. L. (2019). Mental health in elite athletes: International Olympic Committee consensus statement. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *53*, 667-699. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100715
- Reich, A. L., Milroy, J. J., Wyrick, D. L., and Hebard, S. P. (2021). A social ecological framework: Counselors' role in improving student athletes' help-seeking behaviors.

 **Journal of College Counseling, 24(1), 81-96. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocc.12178
- Riebl, S. K., Subudhi, A. W., Broker, J. P., Schenck, K., & Berning, J. R. (2007). The prevalence of subclinical eating disorders among male cyclists. *Journal of the American Dietetic**Association, 107(7), 1214-1217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2007.04.017
- Roid, G. H. & Fitts, W. (1988). *Tennessee Self-Concept Scale (TSCS): Revised manual*. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.
- Sabo, D. (1988). Pigskin, patriarchy, and pain. In *Race, class, and gender in the United States* (pp. 227-230). St. Martin's Press.
- Schaal, K., Tafflet, M., Nassif, H., Thibault, V., Pichard, C., Alcotte, M., Guillet, T., El Helou, N., Berthelot, G., Simon, S., & Toussaint, J. F. (2011). Psychological balance in high level athletes: Gender-based differences and sport-specific patterns. *PLoS One*, 6(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019007
- Schlimmer, E. & Chin, J. W. (2019). Addressing psychiatric disorders among student-athletes:

 Challenges facing mental health professionals in NCAA Division I athletics.

 International Journal of Sport and Society, 10(1), 49-66.

- https://doi.org/10.18848/2152-7857/cgp/v10i01/49-66
- Skirka, N. (2000). The relationship of hardiness, sense of coherence, sports participation, and gender to perceived stress and psychological symptoms among college students. *The Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 40(1), 63-70.
- Snowden, L. R. (2001). Barriers to effective mental health services for African Americans.

 Mental Health Services Research, 3, 181-187. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1013172913880
- Speilberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., & Lushene, R. E. (1970). *The State Trait Anxiety Inventory Self-Evaluation Questionnaire*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. W., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *166*(10), 1092-1097. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Statler, T. & DuBois, A. (2016). "Psychology of athletic preparation and performance," in *Essentials of Strength Conditioning*, eds. G. Haff and N. T. Triplett (Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics), 155-172.
- Stoeber, J. & Kersting, M. (2007). Perfectionism and aptitude test performance: Testees who strive for perfection achieve better test results. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 42,1093-1103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2006.09.012
- Stumpf, H. & Parker, W. D. (2000). A hierarchical structural analysis of perfectionism and its relation to other personality characteristics. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28, 837-852. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00141-5
- Sudano, L. E. & Miles, C. M. (2017). Mental health services in NCAA Division I athletics: A survey of head ATCs. *Sports Health*, *9*(3), 262-267. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738116679127

- Sungot-Borgen, J. & Torstveit, M. K. (2004). Prevalence of eating disorders in elite athletes is higher than in the general population. *Clinical Journal of Sports Medicine*, *14*(1), 25-32. https://doi.org/10.1097/00042752-200401000-00005
- Thomas, D. R. (2006). A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 27(2), 237-246.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214005283748
- Thomee, P., Wahrborg, P., Borjesson, M., Thomee, R., Eriksson, B. I., & Karlsson, J. (2006). A new instrument for measuring self-efficacy in patients with an anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports, 16*, 181-187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2005.00472.x
- Thompson, R. A. & Sherman, R. T. (2007). *Managing Student-Athletes' Mental Health Issues*. Bloomington, IN: NCAA.
- Tinsley, H. E. A. (1982). *Expectations about counseling*. Unpublished test manual. Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University, Department of Psychology.
- Torstveit, M. K. & Sundgot-Borgen, J. (2005). The female athlete triad: Are elite athletes at increased risk? *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *37*(2), 184-193. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000152677.60545.3a
- Tracey, J. (2003). The emotional response to the injury and rehabilitation process. Journal of Applied Sport Psychology, 15(4), 279-293. https://doi.org/10.1080/714044197
- Turner, D. W. (2010). Qualitative interview design: A practical guide for novice investigators.

 The Qualitative Report, 15(3), 754-760. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2010.1178
- Turner, M. J., Ewen, D., & Barker, J. B. (2018). An idiographic single-case study examining the use of Rational Emotive Behavior Therapy (REBT) with three amateur golfers to

- alleviate social anxiety. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *32*(2), 186-204. https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2018.1496186
- Van Der Poel, J. & Nel, P. (2011). Relevance of the Kübler-Ross Model to the post-injury responses of competitive athletes. *South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation*, 33(1), 151-163. https://doi.org/10.4314/sajrs.v33i1.65496
- Vealey, R. S. (1986). Conceptualization of sport-confidence and competitive orientation:

 Preliminary investigation and instrument development. Journal of Sport Psychology, 8,

 221-246. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsp.8.3.221
- Voight, M. & Callaghan, J. (2001). The use of sport psychology services at NCAA Division I universities. *The Sport Psychologist*, 15, 91-102. https://doi.org/10.1123/tsp.15.1.91
- Vogel, D. L., Wade, N. G., & Heckler, A. H. (2007). Perceived public stigma and the willingness to seek counseling: The mediating roles of self-stigma and attitudes toward counseling.
 Journal of Counseling Psychology, 54(1), 40-50.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.54.1.40
- Wade, P. & Bernstein, B. L. (1991). Culture sensitivity training and counselor's race: Effects on Black female clients' perceptions and attrition. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 38, 9-15. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.38.1.9
- Wahto, R. S., Swift, J. K., & Whipple, J. L. (2016). The role of stigma and referral source in predicting college student-athletes' attitudes toward psychological help-seeking. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 10(2), 85-98. https://doi.org/10.1123/JCSP.2015-0025
- Walker, N., Thatcher, J., & Lavallee, D. (2007). Psychological responses to injury in competitive sport: A critical review. *The Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 127(4), 174-180. https://doi.org/10.1177/1466424007079494

- Watson, J. C. (2005). College student-athletes' attitudes toward help-seeking behavior and expectations of counseling services. *Journal of College Student Development*, 46(4), 442-449. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2005.0044
- Watson, J. C. (2006). Student-athletes and counseling: Factors influencing the decision to seek counseling services. *College Student Journal*, 40(1), 35-42.
- Watson, J. C. & Kissinger, D. B. (2007). Athletic participation and wellness: Implications for counseling college student-athletes. *Journal of College Counseling*, *10*(2), 153-162. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2007.tb00015.x
- Way, W. C. III, Coker-Cranney, A. M., & Watson II, J. C. (2020). "So many mental health issues go unsaid": Implications for best practice guidelines from student-athletes" perspectives about service availability. *Journal of Clinical Sport Psychology*, 14, 305-324. https://doi.org/10.1123/jcsp.2019-0051
- Way, W. C. III (2021). Meeting the mental health needs of student-athletes: A descriptive study of practitioners and their perspectives. *Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports*.
- Weigand, S., Cohen, J., & Merenstein, D. (2013). Susceptibility for depression in current and retired student athletes. *Sports Health*, 5, 263-266. https://doi.org/10.1177/1941738113480464
- Weiner, B., Perry, R. P., & Magnusson, J. (1988). An attributional analysis of reactions to stigmas. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *55*(5), 738-748. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.55.5.738
- Whitehead, P. M. & Senecal, G. (2020). Balance and mental health in NCAA Division I student-athletes: An existential humanistic view. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 48(2),

- 150-163. https://doi.org/10.1037/hum0000138
- Wiese-Bjornstal, D. M. (2010). Psychology and socioculture affect injury risk, response, and recovery in high-intensity athletes: A consensus statement. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports, 20, 103-111.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2010.01195.x
- Wilson, G. & Pritchard, M. (2005). Comparing sources of stress in college student-athletes and non-athletes. *Athletic Insight*, 7(1), 1-8.
- Wolanin, A., Hong, E., Marks, D., Panchoo, K., & Gross, M. (2016). Prevalence of clinically elevated depressive symptoms in college athletes and differences by gender and sport. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 50(3), 167-171.

 https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095756
- Wrisberg, C. A. & Martin, S. B. (1994, October). *Attitudes of African American and Caucasian athletes towards sport psychology consultants*. Paper presented at the meeting of the Association for the Advancement of Applied Sport Psychology, Incline Village, NV.
- Yang, J., Peek-Asa, C., Corlette, J. D., Cheng, G., Foster, D. T., & Albright, J. (2007).
 Prevalence of and risk factors associated with symptoms of depression in competitive collegiate student athletes. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 17(6), 481-487.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/JSM.0b013e31815aed6b
- Yousaf, O., Popat, A., & Hunter, M. S. (2015). An investigation of masculinity attitudes, gender, and attitudes towards psychological help-seeking. *Psychology of Men and Masculinity*, 16(2), 234-237. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036241
- Yusko, D. A., Buckman, J. F., White, H. R., & Pandina, R. J. (2008). Alcohol, tobacco, illicit drugs, and performance enhancers: A comparison of use by college student athletes and

nonathletes. Journal of American College Health, 57(3), 281-289.

https://doi.org/10.3200/JACH.57.3.281-290

Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. K. (1988). The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52, 30-41. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2

APPENDIX A

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Introduction

Tyler Hilinski seemingly had it all: a loving family, supportive teammates and coaches, and a promising future as the new starting quarterback at Washington State University. However, tragedy suddenly struck the sports world in January 2018 when Hilinski died by suicide only weeks after he started his first college game for the Cougars in the Holiday Bowl (Elman, 2020). Hilinski's suicide portrays a dark picture into the reality of the struggles that some male collegiate athletes silently face behind the glitz and glamour that is oftentimes associated with being a Division I athlete. In an article published by Sports Illustrated, Hilinski's family candidly shared how Tyler had never reached out for help (Bishop, 2018). Despite well-known athletes, including 28-time Olympic medalist Michael Phelps, becoming more open about the conversations surrounding mental health in the sport context (Matthews, 2018), several male athletes continue to face ongoing scrutiny and judgment from fans, the media, and in some cases, their own teammates and coaches when deciding to seek out mental health services (Merz et al., 2020). Furthermore, collegiate athletes are consistently exposed to a sport culture that promotes messages such as "no pain, no gain", "be mentally tough", and "never show your opponents any sign of weakness" (Coakley, 2004; Maniar et al., 2005). Consequently, these athletes may oftentimes feel pressured to hide their mental health-related struggles from the world and avoid seeking out any sort of professional support. Watson (2005) found that athletes at the college level are more reluctant than the general student body population to seek out professional psychological help despite both groups experiencing mental health concerns at similar rates. Furthermore, Gross et al. (2020) reports that the number of athletes who are experiencing mental health concerns while not receiving the help they need is enough to be considered a crisis among

the U.S. collegiate athlete population. Davoren and Hwang (2014) reviewed data from eight National College Health Assessment surveys. In total, 19,733 collegiate athletes completed the surveys and results revealed that 21% of the male athlete respondents reported experiencing depressive symptoms and 31% reported symptoms of anxiety within the past 12 months. Additionally, male athletes are less likely than female athletes to seek out help for mental health concerns (Barnard, 2016). In some cases, such as with Tyler Hilinski, athletes' mental health struggles may go unrecognized for prolonged periods of time which may result in suicidal ideations or attempts. According to Rao and Hong (2016), suicide is the fourth leading cause of death for collegiate athletes, with male athletes being at a higher risk (Rao & Hong, 2015).

While previous research has begun to analyze mental health service utilization and availability for collegiate athletes from the vantage points of administrators (Cannole et al., 2014), athletic departments (Kornspan & Duve, 2006; Voight & Callaghan, 2001), and university athletics and counseling center websites (Hayden et al., 2013), very few studies have explored these topics from a practitioners' perspective. More specifically, only one study to date has examined practitioners' viewpoints and experiences working with collegiate athletes and their access to mental health services (Schlimmer & Chin, 2019). As Way (2021) suggested, the benefits of examining such perspectives "could be an untapped source of information regarding the mental health needs of student-athletes and the extent to which these needs are currently being met" (p. 2). Thus, the current study expands on previous research by examining the perspectives of those who work most closely with male athletes, the practitioners. Through exploring the experiences of these practitioners, we are able to better understand what strategies can be undertaken to increase accessibility to support services for male collegiate athletes.

Accordingly, the following research questions were posed: (1) what are the experiences of

licensed practitioners working with male Division I athletes suffering with mental health-related concerns, and (2) what steps can be taken to help male Division I athletes more easily access professional psychological help services?

Male Athletes and Mental Health

Clinical Concerns

Previous research has found that clinical concerns such as depression, anxiety, and eating disorders are among the most significant within the college population, including both athletes and non-athletes (Beals & Manore, 2002; Weigand et al., 2013; Wolanin et al., 2016). Therefore, the literature review will only examine these three clinical mental health concerns as it relates to male collegiate athletes although it is important to note that it is not an exhaustive list.

Depression

Collegiate athletes are at an increased risk for depression compared to the general population due to the various physical and psychological pressures and demands that are placed on them in both the academic and athletic settings (Mummery, 2005). Yang et al. (2007) used the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D; Radloff, 1977) and found that out of 257 Division I collegiate athlete participants, 21% of them reported symptoms of depression. In a more recent study, Wolanin et al. (2016) measured clinically elevated depressive symptoms in 465 Division I athletes (43.1% were male and 56.9% were female). The researchers also used the CES-D (Radloff, 1977) during the athletes' annual physical and discovered that 23.7%, or nearly a quarter, of athletes posed clinically relevant levels of depressive symptoms (Wolanin et al., 2016). Despite prior studies extensively examining the prevalence rates of depression in both male and female collegiate athletes combined, there remains a limited number of studies that have explored the frequency of depression in male collegiate athletes alone. In one such study,

Proctor and Boan-Lenzo (2010) compared prevalence rates of depressive symptoms between 66 male intercollegiate athletes and 51 male non-athletes from a Division I institution. The researchers used the Coping Inventory for Stressful Situations: Situation Specific Coping (CISS:SSC; Endler & Parker, 1999) and the CES-D (Radloff, 1977) and found that 29.4% of the non-athlete participants met the criteria for clinical depression compared to only 15.6% of the athletes (Proctor & Boan-Lenzo, 2010). Despite minimal research in existence that has explored clinically relevant symptoms of depression in male collegiate athletes specifically, it is evident that they are not immune from experiencing it.

Anxiety

In general, anxiety is composed of two different components, cognitive symptoms (e.g., worrying thoughts and fears) and somatic symptoms (e.g., physical sensations such as sweating, increased heart rate, nausea, and tightening of the chest; Ford et al., 2017). Anxiety may either be categorized as state anxiety (i.e., a consistent and stable part of one's personality) or trait anxiety (i.e., a temporary, situation-specific form of anxiety; Ford et al., 2017). The NCAA reported that nearly 85% of certified athletic trainers believe anxiety disorders are a prevalent concern among the collegiate athlete population (Goldman, 2014). Moreover, prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) in athletes may range anywhere from six percent in clinical diagnoses (Schaal et al., 2011) to 14.6% in self-report measures (Du Preez et al., 2017). Previous research indicates that several different factors may contribute to the prevalence and severity of anxiety seen in athletes.

Anxiety levels experienced in athletes may be related to perfectionistic behaviors and tendencies. Perfectionism is a complex characteristic comprised of various facets and dimensions (Benson, 2003), both positive and negative. Frost et al. (1993) described one dimension as

positive striving perfectionism in which athletes set personal standards for one's performance and engage in perfectionistic striving and growth. As a result, athletes who identify with this dimension of perfectionism tend to have a positive affect, endurance, and test performance (Frost et al., 1993; Stoeber & Kersting; 2007; Stumpf & Parker, 2000). Contrastly, self-critical perfectionism is a separate dimension that exists in athletes who engage in critical selfevaluations of one's performance, experience discrepancies between expectations and outcomes, maintain concern over mistakes, and have fears that the only way to be accepted is through perfection (Dunkley et al., 2003). This dimension is found to be positively correlated with negative affect, low self-esteem, low self-efficacy, and competitive anxiety (Dunkley et al., 2003; Frost et al., 1993; Stumpf & Parker, 2000). Frost and Henderson (1991) examined reactions of perfectionism in 40 Division III athletes from various sports by having participants complete a series of questionnaires including the Multidimensional Perfectionism Scale (MPS; Frost et al., 1990), the Sport Competition Anxiety Test (SCAT; Martens, 1977), the Trait Sport-Confidence Inventory (TSCI; Vealey, 1986), the General Sports Orientation Questionnaire (Gill & Deeter, 1988), the Reaction to Mistakes During Competition Scale (RMDC), and the Thoughts Before Competition Scale. As a result, the researchers found a positive correlation between perfectionism and anxiety regarding athletic competition (Frost & Henderson, 1991). Koivula et al. (2002) found similar results in their study that investigated the relationship between selfesteem and perfectionism and the effects it has on competitive anxiety and self-confidence. The researchers recruited 178 elite athletes (69 females and 109 males) who were asked to complete shortened versions of the Basic and Earning Self-Esteem Scales (Forsman & Johnson, 1996), the MPS (Frost et al., 1990), and the Competitive State Anxiety Inventory-2 (CSAI-2; Martens et al., 1990). Findings of the study indicated a positive association between perfectionism and anxiety which resulted in lower levels of self-confidence (Koivula et al., 2002).

Research has also found that an additional factor that may contribute to prevalence and severity of anxiety in athletes includes the experience of an injury. For example, Leddy et al. (1994) investigated psychological consequences of athletic injury in male collegiate athletes. The researchers recruited 343 NCAA male Division I athletes from 10 different sports. Each participant was classified as either being injured (injured at post-injury and at follow-up), recovered (injured at post-injury and fully recovered at follow-up), non-injured, or late injured (not injured at post-injury but injured at follow-up). Participants were asked to complete a series of questionnaires including the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI; Beck et al., 1961), the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI; Speilberger et al., 1970), and the Tennessee Self-Concept Scale (TSCS; Roid & Fitts, 1988). The researchers found that the injured athletes displayed greater levels of both depression and anxiety and lower self-esteem than the non-injured athletes (Leddy et al., 1994). In a more recent study, Junge and Feddermann-Demont (2016) recruited 471 soccer players to complete a general questionnaire form, the CES-D (Radloff, 1977), and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7; Spitzer et al., 2006) scale. The results indicated that significant differences in anxiety symptoms and prevalence were found in athletes who already had an injury compared to those who did not (Junge & Feddermann-Demont, 2016). Gulliver et al. (2015) found similar results in their study that investigated the mental health of elite athletes. 224 athletes were asked to complete several questionnaires to measure mental health symptoms including general psychological distress, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, social anxiety symptoms, panic disorder symptoms, eating disorder symptoms, and prior help-seeking

behaviors. They found that injured athletes had higher levels of GAD symptoms than uninjured athletes (Gulliver et al., 2015).

Within the collegiate athlete population, patterns, duration, and severity of symptoms can help differentiate clinical anxiety disorders (e.g., GAD, social anxiety, panic disorder) from competition performance anxiety (Reardon, 2019). Due to certain levels of anxiety being commonplace to athletics and the competitive environment, it may be difficult for athletes to detect when they are suffering from clinical anxiety symptoms (Chang, 2020). For instance, pervasive worries and fears in addition to specific physiological symptoms that persist for a minimum of six months may meet the criteria for GAD while engaging in habitual patterns or routines prior to a big game may not necessarily indicate a clinical diagnosis of obsessivecompulsive disorder as many athletes tend to partake in these behaviors for their sport (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Precompetitive performance-related anxiety (i.e., state anxiety) is not uncommon in athletes who are facing a significant amount of pressure and are expected to consistently perform at high levels (Reardon, 2019). However, clinical anxiety (i.e., trait anxiety) is more associated with debilitating symptoms that can negatively impact an athlete's performance and cause psychological distress to one's daily life, both in and out of sport (Halvari & Gjesme, 1995). In addition, previous research has indicated that other mental health concerns and illnesses, such as depression and eating disorders, commonly coexist with anxiety (Junge & Prinz, 2019; Kerr et al., 2014; Reardon, 2017).

Eating Disorders

Thompson and Sherman (2007) report that eating disorders often begin or worsen during transition periods, such as a collegiate athlete transitioning from high school to college. Although little is known about the specific personality and psychological factors that influence male

athletes' risk of developing eating disorders (Galli et al., 2014) previous research estimates that male athletes have lower prevalence rates of eating disorders than female athletes but higher prevalence rates than male non-athletes (Joy et al., 2016). Sundgot-Borgen and Torstveit (2004) examined the prevalence of eating disorders in athletes and non-athletes and found that 20% of female athletes and 8% of male athletes met the criteria for an eating disorder compared to 9% of female non-athletes and 0.5% of male non-athletes. Baron (2013) acknowledges that the lower prevalence rates of eating disorders in male athletes may partially be due to the fact that men are often overlooked as individuals who can suffer from one. Thus, resulting in increased feelings of shame in men who are experiencing an eating disorder and more of an effort to conceal their disordered behaviors and avoid seeking help.

As Baum (2006) suggested, there are various categories of sports that can further exacerbate eating disorder symptoms. One category includes sports where the athlete needs to make a particular weight to compete (e.g., wrestling, boxing, rowing; Baron, 2013; Baum, 2006). As many as 70% of elite athletes participating in weight class sports engage in disordered eating behaviors in order to reduce weight prior to competition (Torstveit & Sundgot-Borgen, 2005). Chatterton and Petrie (2013) examined 732 male collegiate athletes and found that those who participated in weight class sports are more likely to engage in disordered eating and weight control behaviors than athletes in endurance (e.g., track and cross country) or ball game sports (e.g., basketball and baseball). Athletes in these sports are not only encouraged, but expected, to partake in unhealthy and extreme eating behaviors and practices such as fasting, overexercising in oftentimes humid conditions with heavy clothing on, self-induced vomiting, and laxative consumption (Baron, 2013). Another category of sport which increases the risk of attracting individuals who already have unhealthy eating behaviors or premorbid risk factors for eating

disorders includes ones in which low body fat is considered advantageous for optimal performance (e.g., cross country, swimming, cycling; Baron, 2013; Baum, 2006). In these instances, athletes are more susceptible to the continuous cycle of restriction and over-exercise in order to alter and maintain lean muscle mass. As a result, the calorie burn from long distance running, swimming, or cycling can lead to further weight loss and the eventual development of pathologic eating habits (Baron, 2013). Riebl et al. (2007) compared subclinical disordered eating patterns between male cyclists (61) and non-cyclists (63) by using the Eating Attitudes Test-26 (EAT-26; Garner et al., 1982) and Survey of Eating Disorders Among Cyclists (SEDAC; Guthrie, 1991). Results of the study found that male cyclists scored significantly higher on the EAT-26, indicating that they are at an increased risk for eating disorders and nutritional deficits compared to men who do not participate in cycling. As suggested by the researchers, athletes who emphasize the importance of low body fat may be more likely to conform to the belief that becoming lighter will make them faster and more successful in their sport and thus be more compelled to participate in pathologic eating (Riebl et al., 2007). The final category of sport that may lead to the evolution of an eating disorder is found in sports in which aesthetics are considered to be a significant part of the judging process (e.g., gymnastics, figure skating, diving; Baron, 2013; Baum, 2006). Krentz and Warschburger (2011) examined 96 non-athletes and 96 elite athletes (61 females and 35 males) from aesthetic sports including ice figure skating, gymnastics, ballet, and diving. The participants completed the EAT-26 (Garner et al., 1982) and found that more elite athletes from aesthetic sports had a significantly higher prevalence of eating disorder symptoms than the non-athlete control group (Krentz & Warschburger, 2011). Thus, the literature makes it clear that collegiate athletes, including male athletes, are not

immune to clinical mental health concerns such as depression, anxiety, and eating disorders and may actually be more susceptible to experiencing some of these struggles than non-athletes.

Subclinical Concerns

Subclinical mental health-related concerns are those that include some symptoms of a clinical concern but do not meet the diagnostic criteria required to be a classified as such (Cuijpers, 2008) although subclinical concerns pose the risk of manifesting into clinical concerns if left unmanaged (Pietrzak, 2013). Examples of subclinical concerns in collegiate athletes include substance use and excessive stress stemming from academic pressures, athletic demands, and relationships with others.

Substance Use

Substance use, including both drug and alcohol consumption, is more prevalent within the collegiate athlete population as compared to non-athletes (Brisola-Santos et al., 2016; Ford, 2007; Yusko et al., 2008) despite the risk of negative consequences that athletes may face in their sport for engaging in these behaviors (e.g., being benched or kicked off of the team). However, research on collegiate athletes and substance use behaviors remains minimal (Yusko et al., 2008; Druckman et al., 2015). The only large-scale survey currently in existence on the prevalence of substance use behaviors of collegiate athletes is the NCAA Substance Use Survey, which is published every four years. In the most recent version, the NCAA (2018) investigated 23,028 collegiate athletes across all three divisions and found that nearly half of them (42%) self-reported engaging in binge drinking (44% in men and 39% in women), 24.7% reported marijuana use (26.3% in men and 22.3% in women), and 3.8% reported using cocaine (5.2% in men and 1.7% in women). Gender differences in the prevalence of substance use habits in collegiate athletes has emerged as an important consideration in research. Ntoumanis et al.

(2014) conducted a meta-analysis on personal and psychosocial predictors of doping use in physical activity settings, such as competitive sport. As a result of their findings the researchers concluded that males were more likely to engage in doping use compared to females (Ntoumanis et al., 2014). Furthermore, research indicates that men tend to be more likely to engage in substance use as a coping mechanism for mental health-related concerns (e.g., depression and anxiety). For instance, men oftentimes cope with mental illness through the use of self-medication in the form of drugs or alcohol (Montero, 2018). This may be because they have been socialized to hide their emotions, thus self-medication is a way for them to block those feelings out.

Previous research suggests that collegiate athletes engage in substance use behaviors for a multitude of reasons. Initial motivation to engage in substance use behaviors may include to boost self-confidence, to fit in socially, to produce pleasure, or to have fun, while long-term substance use may stem from stress relief, psychological dependence to the substance, negative emotions reduction, and tolerance or withdrawal (McDuff & Baron, 2005). In addition, Baron (2013) suggested that athletes often use substances to either objectively or subjectively try to enhance their athletic performance. For example, anabolic androgenic steroids (AAS) are considered synthetic derivatives of testosterone that induce protein synthesis in muscle cells and lead to the release of growth hormone which ultimately allows athletes to overtrain and achieve significant increases in both muscle size and strength (Elashoff et al., 1991). Despite the potential benefits in performance and physical capabilities that AAS provides for athletes, Hartgens and Kuipers (2004) reports some of the adverse psychological effects that can result from dependency and abuse, including increased aggression and hostility (Choi et al., 1990; Kouri et al., 1995; Moss et al., 1992), sleeplessness (Hartgens & Kuipers, 2004), and varying

mood changes such as depression (Brower et al., 1990), paranoia (Perry et al., 1990), hypomania (Pope & Katz, 1994), and psychotic features (Perry et al., 1990).

Moreover, alcohol consumption is another category of substance use commonly observed in the collegiate athlete population. Rates of alcohol consumption and binge drinking are more prevalent in athletes than non-athletes (Brenner & Swanik, 2007; Nelson & Wechsler, 2001). Motivation to engage in drinking behaviors stem from social reasons, as a coping mechanism, to feel good, or in an attempt to enhance performance (McDuff & Baron, 2005). However, research indicates that the latter may be misleading. For instance, O'Brien and Lyons (2000) found that alcohol consumption is linked to sports-related injury. The study's results found that athletes who were drinking at least weekly were maintaining injury rates that were twice those of athletes who did not drink at all (54.8% versus 23.5%; O'Brien & Lyons, 2000). Previous research indicates that athletes are more likely than non-athletes to experience negative consequences due to drug or alcohol use (Leichliter et al., 1994). Leichliter and colleagues (1994) recruited 58,453 college students (both athletes and non-athletes) from 125 U.S. universities. Each participant in the study was asked to complete the Core Alcohol and Drug Survey (Presley et al., 1994). The researchers found that substance use in athletes resulted in impaired academic work (29.2%) compared to 18.6% of non-athletes), missed class (40.5% compared to 26.3% of non-athletes), and resulted in being hurt or injured (18.3% compared to 11.6% of non-athletes; Leichliter et al., 1998). Consequently, collegiate athletes may make the decision to engage in substance use for reasons that may warrant professional psychological help including dependency, performance enhancement, stress relief, and to cope with various mental illnesses that they may be silently suffering from (e.g., depression, anxiety, eating disorders).

Excessive Stress

Stress is a complex reaction that is defined as "a state of physical and psychological activation in response to external demands that exceed one's ability to cope and requires a person to adapt or change behavior" (Lopes Dos Santos et al., 2020, p. 2). Contrary to how stress is perceived in society, it is a characteristic that is not inherently unhealthy unless it becomes chronic or insufficiently managed (Kroshus, 2014). According to Gibbons (2015), stress is a response that is necessary for one to perform at their optimum level. Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) transactional approach model indicates that there are varying types of stress that can range on a continuum from positive to negative. Distress, or negative stress, is characterized by being either short- or long-term, generating anxiety, decreasing focus and performance, and contributing to both mental and physical problems. Eustress, or positive stress, is defined as being short-term, motivates an individual, improves performance, and produces positive mental energy (Statler & DuBois, 2016). The main factor that contributes to whether a stressor will result in either feelings of distress or eustress is dependent upon one's appraisal, or perception, of the situation and environment in which they are exposed to (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; LeFevre et al., 2006). Humphrey et al. (2000) found that "relatively few" (p. 32) college coaches, athletes, and athletic directors perceived any aspect of stress as a positive thing as most of them viewed it as something that is undesirable (i.e., distress). When athletes were asked to describe in their own words what stress meant to them, they most commonly associated it with terms such as "pressure", "anxiety", "overwhelm", "frustration", and "conflict" (Humphrey et al., 2000, p. 32). While eustress may help increase an athlete's performance, an excessive amount of perceived stress, or distress, may not only lead to impaired performance but can also have significant consequences on an athlete's mental health and psychological well-being (Skirka, 2000).

Andersen and Williams (1988) developed a theoretical model of stress and athletic injury which proposes that athletes with a history of stressors (e.g., life events, daily hassles, previous injuries), personality characteristics that intensify the stress response (e.g., hardiness, locus of control, competitive trait anxiety, achievement motivation), and minimal coping resources will be at an increased likelihood to appraise a particular situation as stressful and thus present greater physiological activation and attentional disruptions. As a result, the model suggests that the severity of the athlete's stress response ultimately increases the risk of injury (Andersen & Williams, 1988). Therefore, mental health-related concerns, such as excessive stress and depressive symptoms that get left untreated or unmanaged may lead to an increased risk of injury.

Research has identified four consequences that excessive stress may have on athletes. The first consequence includes an impact on mental and emotional health. Common examples include outbursts of anger, excessive anxiety, irritation, and fear (Humphrey et al., 2000). Next, research shows that excessive stress can have an impact on athletes' physical health such as lack of sleep and digestive problems (Humphrey et al., 2000). For example, Monma et al. (2018) examined various sleep disorder risk factors among 906 collegiate athletes in which a majority (70.1%) of the participants were male. Each individual was asked to complete a series of questionnaires that included the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI; Buysse et al., 1989), general lifestyle habits (e.g., bedtime, wake-up time, daily eating behaviors, alcohol consumption), and psychological distress utilizing a version of the K6 scale (Furukawa et al., 2008). As a result of the study, researchers concluded that psychological distress had a significant impact on sleep disorders and sleep behavior of athletes (Monma et al., 2018). A supplemental consequence to excessive stress for athletes is a negative impact on athletic

performance due to feeling over-anxious prior to and during competition (Humphrey et al., 2000). Noteboom et al. (2001) indicated that history and intensity of various stressors may prove to be an important antecedent of sport-based anxiety in practice or during competition. The final consequence of excessive stress comprises a negative impact on academic performance (Humphrey et al., 2000) which may, in turn, potentially have an impact on an athlete's eligibility to play in their sport. Previous research stipulates that collegiate athletes suffer from a number of unique stressors that the more general college student population does not experience and, if not appropriately managed, could become a source of significant mental health struggles (Fogaca, 2019).

Academic Pressures. Hwang and Choi (2016) utilized preexisting representative data and a data mining methodology of 19,967 NCAA athletes from 609 Division I, II, and III universities and found that academics was one of three top stressors commonly experienced by athletes. Demanding athletic schedules including practices, competitions, and team travel prevents collegiate athletes from being able to fully engage in their academic efforts and reduces their chances of getting the opportunity to participate in various professional educational experiences while in college (Comeaux et al., 2011; Gayles & Hu, 2009). For example, athletes may miss out on experiences such as internships, research opportunities, and study abroad programs that cultivate intellectual and academic growth, increase collaboration with faculty members, and provide exposure to diverse groups of people and environments (Kuh, 2008). As a result, research suggests that collegiate athletes remain at a greater disadvantage than their non-athlete peers in regards to academic growth and achievement (Comeaux & Harrison, 2011; Eitzen, 2009). Adler and Adler (1985) studied 38 collegiate athletes' academic involvement from a major college basketball program over the course of four years. The researchers found that

despite the participants entering college with optimistic academic goals, the athletes gradually detached themselves from their studies, leading them to eventually abandon their initial academic aspirations and settle with inferior academic performance. Thus, the athletes experienced feelings of disappointment and despair due to their inability to reach the academicrelated expectations they had initially set for themselves when they first began their college careers (Adler & Adler, 1985). Furthermore, Humphrey et al. (2000) found that a majority of both male (95%) and female (86%) athletes experience feeling overwhelmed by academic stressors such as tests and examinations, writing papers for classes, being absent from class due to athletic events, and having to make up missed schoolwork. Tests and examinations in particular appeared to be the greatest academic-related stressor for collegiate athletes. It is suggested that this may be due to athletes feeling unprepared as a result of expending a majority of their time and energy outside of class in practices or traveling to competitions for their sport (Humphrey et al., 2000). In addition, collegiate athletes may feel the pressure of fulfilling their academic responsibilities to achieve and maintain their NCAA eligibility in order to be able to compete in their sport, receive scholarship aid, and ultimately graduate from their institution (Carodine et al., 2001).

Moreover, collegiate athletes are required to make the crucial decision of what they want to major in while simultaneously considering whether or not they will be able to fulfill the obligations of the desired field of study while being a full-time athlete. Research has found that collegiate athletes experience more stress than non-athletes when they are faced with making important decisions regarding their education, such as deciding which classes to take or what to study (Wilson & Pritchard, 2005). The 2016 National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) Growth, Opportunities, Aspirations, and Learning of Students in College (GOALS) study found

that more than one-third of collegiate athletes reported that their participation in sports has prevented them from taking preferred classes. Namely, collegiate athletes are more likely to find themselves in classes or majors that are undesirable (Comeaux, 2010; Eitzen, 2009). Hatteberg (2020) conducted a qualitative study on the perceived impacts of stress exposure on academic development of collegiate athletes in which 56 athletes from a Division I university were interviewed. One athlete reported:

...it's very difficult when you get into [a certain phase of the major]... there are only like four classes that you have to take together and they're only offered at certain times, so if you have prior requirements, like, I would have to go to practice and stuff, it might interfere with my practice time and there's nothing I can do about it in terms of schooling. (Hatteberg, 2020, p. 18)

As reflected by the experiences of this particular individual, athletes may feel like they are required to make the unfair decision between putting their sport or their academics first, which may ultimately pose as a significant stressor.

Athletic Demands. NCAA Division I athletes are noted as the "best of the best" in their respective sports that are described as a "high-stakes environment where excellence is the expectation" (Whitehead & Senecal, 2020, p. 151). Although participating in college sports has shown to have a positive impact on athletes' well-being such as boosting self-esteem and confidence, social support, and connectedness (Armstrong et al., 2015), sport participation itself has also proven to be a significant stressor for student-athletes (Kimball & Freysinger, 2003). For example, Kimball and Freysinger (2003) conducted an interpretative study on leisure, stress, and coping as a collegiate athlete in which 14 participants (seven male and seven female) from a Division I university were interviewed. One male athlete reported the following:

...I have so much stress at times... I feel like my world is just falling in front of me and there's nothing I can do to stop it... It just feels like there's so much to do so little time to do it that I'm going to cry, that's how I feel about it... I feel like a lot of time I'm out of control and you just kinda barely get through every day. (Kimball & Fresinger, 2003, p. 127)

As indicated by this quote, athletes may feel as though there is not enough time to balance both athletics and academics and do their best in both domains (Humphrey et al., 2000), thus causing ample amounts of stress and pressure in their lives. The NCAA GOALS (2016) study found that an average Division I athlete is spending 34 hours per week on their sport in-season in addition to 38.5 hours per week on academics, which is higher than both Division II and III athletes. To put it in perspective, this is equivalent to maintaining nearly two full-time jobs simultaneously.

Moreover, pressures specifically related to athletic performance that collegiate athletes face may cause additional psychological distress. For instance, athletes who perceive athletic-related demands as something that exceeds their capacity to deal with can result in having a negative impact on their mental and physical health as well as their overall athletic performance (Ivarsson et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017). Humphrey et al. (2000) reported more than half of both male and female athletes considered sport-related demands to be stress-inducing with the greatest stressor reported by athletes being the pressure they feel to win and perform well in their sport. Similarly, Gulliver et al. (2012) examined both barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking for elite athletes. As a result, one of the most prevalent themes reported by athletes regarding mental health struggles in relation to sport participation included that of performance. One participant shared, "I think after, if maybe after a competition you don't perform very good, you can get depressed and stuff" (Gulliver et al., 2012, p. 4). As evidenced by this quote, some

athletes may weigh their self-worth and value directly on the outcomes of their performance and, if they do not perform well in their respective sport, it is possible that their mental health and psychological well-being becomes affected.

Relationships with Others. Coaches, teammates, and athletic staff give athletes the opportunity to develop deep and meaningful relationships with each other, oftentimes creating and cultivating a family-like environment and support system for the athletes throughout their time in college (Adams et al., 2015). In addition, parents and family may also provide additional support outside of sport for some athletes (Prewitt-White et al., 2016). Despite these opportunities for developing and maintaining meaningful connections, however, research indicates that collegiate athletes are oftentimes limited in their social interactions with individuals outside of their athletic sphere including other students and classmates, faculty, and friends (Watson & Kissinger, 2007). Due to the increased demands that Division I athletes face both athletically and academically, research suggests that free time devoted to spending with friends, family, and significant others is often scarce (Paule & Gilson, 2010). A study that examined experiences of NCAA athletes from Division I Power Five conferences (Big 12, Big Ten, and Southeastern Conference) found that one of the biggest challenges athletes face includes missing out on events and opportunities in college. As one athlete in the study shared, "I've missed out on a lot of the normal college routine with not being able to do stuff with my friends" (Paule & Gilson, 2010, p. 341). Humphrey et al. (2000) found that 12% of male athletes and 7% of female athletes in their study were stressed out by their relationships with others including teachers, coaches, and teammates. Wilson and Pritchard (2005) found a similar result in their study that compared sources of stress in collegiate athletes to non-athletes. The researchers recruited collegiate athletes (52) and non-athletes (310) from a Division I university

and used a modified version of The Survey of Recent Life Experiences (Kohn et al., 1990) to identify various stressors that are most prevalent in Division I athletes. Results of the study indicated that more athletes reported being stressed out by relationships than non-athletes (Wilson & Pritchard, 2005). A more recent study examined the experiences of 409 NCAA Division I athletes across nine different universities from the Pacific 12 Conference and found that when participants were asked what they would change about their athletic experience, many of them expressed a desire to be able to make new friends outside of their sports teams (Pacific 12 Conference, 2015). Consequently, the lack of social opportunities may leave some athletes feeling left out or as though they are being deprived of the full college experience

Professional Psychological Help

An increase in support services has become readily available for NCAA Division I student-athletes in recent years (Moore, 2016). University leaders and athletic departments are dedicating more time and support than ever before to addressing mental health-related concerns of student-athletes (Galli et al., 2014; Neal et al., 2013; Rao et al., 2015; Wolanin et al., 2016). In January 2019, the NCAA passed legislation that requires all schools to make mental health services and resources available for student-athletes through universities' athletics department, health services, or counseling department (Hosick, 2019). Between the work of the coaching staff, athletic trainers, academic advisors and tutors, a sports medicine team, sport psychology consultants, clinical psychologists, and more, it is not uncommon for both student-athletes and the layperson to confuse the roles of each. In Gulliver et al.'s (2012) interview with elite athletes, one participant described what this perplexity was like from an athlete's perspective, "The psychologists here are sport psychologists, sometimes things that happen away from sport you're not sure whether you can go and see them about that, or is that an issue for a counselor" (p. 7).

As illustrated by this particular athlete's thoughts and experiences, this type of uncertainty may lead to a struggling athlete becoming hesitant in seeking out help because they are not entirely sure where to turn to and, as a result, leading them to potentially make the decision to not seek out help at all.

Research has found several benefits of athletes who utilize mental health services and various psychological interventions to not only help enhance their athletic performance but to improve their mental health and overall well-being as well. For instance, Turner et al. (2018) used an idiographic single-case study approach to examine three male golfers and the effects of rational emotive behavior therapy (REBT) and found that it reduced the athletes' performance and social anxiety (Turner et al., 2018). Dubuc-Charbonneau and Durand-Bush (2015) examined the effects of a self-regulation intervention that targeted areas of stress, burnout, and well-being of eight university student-athletes. As a result of the interventions, the findings revealed that both levels of stress and burnout significantly decreased while levels of well-being and self-regulation significantly increased (Dubuc-Charbonneau & Durand-Bush, 2015). However, despite the benefits that professional psychological help has proven to contribute to athletes' performance, mental health, and overall well-being, there continues to be a high number of college student-athletes who maintain a reluctance to reach out for professional help when they need it.

Bird et al. (2018) recruited 101 collegiate athletes and 101 non-athletes for their study in which they sought to investigate the differences in attitudes toward various types of counseling, support, and available services. The researchers found that athletes preferred to seek help for a personal problem from a parent (77.2%), friend (76.2%), or an intimate partner (70.3%) over anyone else. Additionally, the results indicated that athletes would prefer to seek help from a

sport psychologist (33.7%) over a mental health professional (18.8%; Bird et al., 2018). Thus, collegiate athletes tend to prefer to seek help from non-professionals (i.e., family members or loved ones) and if they were to seek help from a professional, they prefer it to be a sport-related professional, such as an athletic trainer or a sport psychologist, over a mental health professional. In addition, López and Levy (2013) found that collegiate athletes strongly prefer counselors who have knowledge, familiarity, and experience with sports participation, particularly in a college sports setting specifically. "The fear of not being understood seems to reflect their desire to not have to explain their complex day-to-day existences or the intricacies of their sport, but to be free to focus on the issue troubling them" (López and Levy, 2013, p. 27). As evident by this quote, athletes who are talking to professionals that are competent and familiar with what it means to be a collegiate athlete are more likely to have the opportunity to focus on their personal struggles rather than having to use the time and energy given to them to explain to the practitioner what their life is like as a collegiate athlete. This finding is similar to Watson (2005) who found collegiate athletes have greater expectations for counseling services if their counselor is knowledgeable and competent. This may be because collegiate athletes are considered a unique and gifted subpopulation in which they oftentimes do not feel easily understood by those around them. Therefore, the feeling of being acknowledged and listened to by somebody else may be invaluable to them.

Schlimmer and Chin (2019) conducted a study to examine the various clinical challenges of mental health professionals who work directly with NCAA Division I athletes. The researchers administered semi-structured interviews with six mental health professionals working in the field. One professional noted that there tends to be some blurred lines amongst the general public between the roles of sport psychology consultants and clinical psychologists

and counselors (Schlimmer & Chin, 2019). In the interview, the participants highlighted the idea that sport psychology consultants are not licensed psychologists and therefore they are not competent in treating mental illnesses. The NCAA further describes the differences, "Some athletics departments may employ individuals who are not licensed mental health providers, but rather are trained in performance enhancement. These individuals bring expertise in performance issues... however, they are not qualified to diagnose and manage mental health disorders" (NCAA, 2020, p. 1). Although sport psychology consultants are not considered to be licensed psychologists, not all licensed psychologists may be competent to work with collegiate athletes, indicating that they may not have the knowledge to fully grasp the struggles that an athlete is experiencing. The professionals in Schlimmer and Chin's (2019) qualitative study suggested that those who are treating student-athletes for mental health-related concerns have a combination of the two aforementioned qualities, licensure as a psychologist with a competency in sport psychology.

Barriers Toward Professional Psychological Help-Seeking

Stigma

"We don't feel shame over having to go to physical therapy for a stress fracture - why should we feel any different about allowing time and treatment to heal anxiety and depression?" (Brown, 2014, p. 8). This is a question posed by former Stanford University cross country and track athlete, Molly McNamara, who struggled from depression and disordered eating during her time as a collegiate athlete. McNamara created and directs a program called Cardinal Resilience, Health, and Emotional Development (RHED) that works with the Stanford athletic department to help promote and initiate programs and resources for athletes at the school. It has been an ongoing curiosity as to why physical illness and disabilities such as the flu, a broken bone, or

cancer are treated and viewed much differently in our society than a mental illness such as depression, anxiety, or an eating disorder.

Abdullah and Brown (2011) define stigma of mental illness as "the devaluing, disgracing, and disfavoring by the general public of individuals with mental illnesses" (p. 947). Stigma has been categorized into two types, public stigma and self-stigma. Public stigma is defined by the attitudes and behaviors that the general public has toward a particular group of people (Corrigan & Watson, 2002). In the case of individuals suffering from mental illness, society tends to view these groups of individuals in a more negative manner than those who suffer from various physical illnesses. More specifically, Weiner et al. (1988) discovered that physically-based stigmas were publicly perceived as something the sufferer had no control over while simultaneously eliciting feelings of pity, little-to-no anger, and a need to help. Meanwhile, mental-behavioral stigmas were perceived as something that the sufferer does have control over and they elicited feelings of little pity, a significant amount of anger, and neglect in those around them (Weiner et al., 1988). Mental illness is oftentimes viewed as something that one can control and instead of evoking feelings of empathy from those around them, those who are suffering are more likely to be left alone and isolated, resulting in less support and more judgment than those who are struggling with a physical illness or disability. On the other hand, self-stigma includes the internalized beliefs regarding oneself (Corrigan & Watson, 2002) and is oftentimes influenced by public stigma (Wahto et al., 2016). Corrigan and Wassel (2008) explain that selfstigma can lead to decreases in self-esteem, self-efficacy, and self-confidence and lead to what is termed as the "why try effect" (p. 44) in which individuals may say things to themselves like, "Why do I try so hard to get this job? It's not like I'll get it because of my mental illness anyways!". An overwhelming amount of self-stigma can lead to individuals second-guessing the

choices they make in their life thus drastically altering the ways in which they live and how they perceive the world.

Nobiling and Maykrantz (2017) used the Health Belief Model (HBM) (Champion & Skinner, 2008) to explore college students' perceptions about mental illness, utilization of mental health services, and self-medication among college students who may or may not have a history with mental illness. Researchers used two versions of the HBM (HBM-hypothetical and HBMpractical) to discover that college students identify stigma as being one of the top barriers to seeking out help. Based on whether a participant had ever been previously diagnosed with a mental illness would determine which HBM questionnaire they would complete (i.e., those who reported never being diagnosed with a mental illness were assigned to complete the HBM-H and those who reported previously being diagnosed with a mental illness completed the HBM-P). As a result, about 80% (from both sections of the HBM) of the 753 participants recognized stigma as a potential barrier for accessing mental health services (Nobiling & Maykrantz, 2017). When examining college student-athletes and stigma specifically, Wahto et al. (2016) recruited 43 college student-athletes from a large university to find out the role that stigma plays on athletes' attitudes toward psychological help-seeking. As a result, the researchers found that both selfstigma and public stigma were identified as "a significant and very large (66%) proportion of the variance in attitudes toward seeking professional psychological help above and beyond gender and treatment history" (Wahto et al., 2016, p. 93). Thus, stigma appears to have a direct effect on how athletes respond to and view their own personal struggles. When comparing collegiate athletes and non-athletes' perceptions of public stigma, self-stigma, and attitudes toward seeking professional help, Hilliard et al. (2019) found that there were no significant differences in perceived stigma between the two groups. Despite this finding, athletes consistently perceive

high levels of both public and self-stigma which has proven to influence their help-seeking behaviors. Gulliver et al. (2012) reported that athletes identified stigma and embarrassment of reaching out for help to consist of more than 40% of all barriers to seeking out professional help for mental illness. As Brown (2014) explains, "In many ways, this stigma further exacerbates the problem of student-athlete mental health as it inhibits effective dialogue, education and development of resources to address these issues" (p. 17). As illustrated by this quote, stigma plays a consequential role in explaining why conversations regarding mental health are limited, particularly in the sports world, and why many collegiate athletes may not know where to turn to in times of need.

Male athletes in particular represent a smaller subgroup of athletes that maintain a more negative view regarding professional psychological help-seeking (Watson, 2005; Watson, 2006). Barnard (2016) conducted a study with 77 collegiate athletes (32 male and 45 female) from a Division I public university, a Division I private university, and a Division III private college. Participants from each university were asked to complete a series of questionnaires including the Devaluation-Discrimination Scale, the Attitudes Toward Seeking Professional Psychological Help Scale (ATSPPHS; Fischer & Turner, 1970), and the Athletic Identity Measurement Scale (AIMS; Brewer & Cornelius, 2001). Results found that gender predicted help-seeking behavior in which female athletes were more likely to seek help than male athletes (Barnard, 2016). As suggested by Martin et al. (1997), this may be due to the ongoing stigmatization that surrounds male athletes and professional psychological help-seeking. In their study, NCAA Division I athletes completed the Attitudes Toward Seeking Sport Psychology Consultation Questionnaire (ATSSPCQ; Fischer & Turner, 1970; Francis, 1992; Gould et al., 1987; Gould et al., 1991; Tinsley, 1982; Wrisberg & Martin, 1994) and the researchers found that male athletes were more

likely to predict that they would experience stigmatization for seeking help than female athletes (Martin et al., 1997). Consequently, stigma is a significant barrier to help-seeking for mental health concerns in male athletes.

Lack of Time

In addition to stigma, the literature has further examined and identified other common barriers that prevent collegiate athletes from seeking out professional help for mental health concerns. López and Levy (2013) recruited 165 NCAA Division I athletes from 20 sports to participate in their study in which they were asked to complete a modified version of the Barriers to Help-Seeking Checklist and a Psychotherapy Preferences Questionnaire (Givens & Tija, 2002) to identify any potential barriers for seeking out professional help while imagining themselves in a situation where they were in need of help for a personal issue and were considering reaching out to their school's counseling center. The most significantly reported barrier to help-seeking for collegiate athletes was a lack of time to seek services (López & Levy, 2013). These findings are similar to Watson's (2006) in which 105 student-athletes and 125 non-athletes answered an open-ended, qualitative question that asked them to name reasons for not seeking counseling or support services for personal problems or issues. A lack of time was the fourth most common response for athletes (12.4%) as a reason for why they did not seek out professional help. Between practices, competitions, traveling, and academic class schedules, the typical collegiate athlete has few available times and little flexibility to access college or university counseling services, especially if services are only offered throughout the day and during regular business hours (López & Levy, 2013; Watson, 2006). Although most sports have a designated "season" (e.g. football takes place in the fall), competition, training, and practices for several athletes can last nearly year-round when taking into account both in-season and off-season training (Forester

et al., 2020). For instance, athletes such as college basketball players may begin their season in early fall and extend through spring, with off-season conditioning and practices continuing regularly throughout the end of the spring and into the summer. Thus, athletes may find it challenging to find the time to seek out professional services at any point in the year.

Mental Health Literacy

Jorm et al. (1997) defines mental health literacy as the "knowledge of beliefs about mental disorders which aid their recognition, management, or prevention" (p. 184). Rafal et al. (2018) measured mental health literacy in 1,242 college men aged 18 and older from a large southeastern university. Mental health literacy in participants was measured using a modified version of a Mental Health Literacy measure (Jung et al., 2016) that included knowledge of signs and symptoms of mental health concerns, mental health beliefs, and knowledge of available mental health resources. Researchers discovered that, in general, male university students showed low mental health literacy, limited knowledge about mental health, weak mental health beliefs, poor mental health attitudes, and low intention to seek out professional help (Rafal et al., 2018). Gulliver et al. (2012) found that although athletes may have a general idea regarding signs and symptoms of different mental illnesses, they still have difficulty differentiating something being "just a feeling" or it being an indication of a mental illness (Gulliver et al., 2012). As one athlete reported:

Being an athlete isn't easy... you're almost totally fatigued every day... you can blame your depression and anxiety and that on fatigue, when it might not be the fatigue that's creating the depression or the anxiety. But you could put a cover on it like that, saying it's from training. (Gulliver et al., 2012, p. 7)

Additionally, the participants in the study cited not knowing what services were available and how to access them as well as not understanding what may happen in a consultation as a major barrier (Gulliver et al., 2012). Despite the fact that there has been a gradual increase in awareness and education of mental illness in recent years, a lack of mental health literacy continues to be a significant barrier for athletes in deciding whether or not they seek out professional help.

The Sport Ethic

An additional barrier to professional psychological help-seeking for collegiate athletes is what Hughes and Coakley (1991) term "the sport ethic" that most athletes have been socialized to conform to. The sport ethic describes the ideal of what it means to be a "real athlete". Some of these characteristics include making sacrifices for "The Game" and accepting risks and playing through pain (Hughes & Coakley, 1991). Conforming to the sport ethic itself may result in a lesser number of athletes wanting to seek out professional help due to a fear of violating the expectations of what it means to be a "real athlete". Malcolm (2006) investigated the social norms of being an athlete and playing through pain and discovered that novice softball players conformed to the ideas of "shaking it off" and "toughing it out" after being exposed to various messages and actions commonly experienced by athletes in a sport environment. For example, the softball players' complaints about pain were intentionally ignored by coaches, some jokes were made about their pain or it was not taken seriously by teammates and coaches, and they were told messages such as "no pain, no gain". Results of this study showed the athletes conformed to the norms of the sport ethic over time and even more so in the athletes that expressed a stronger commitment to the softball-player identity (Malcolm, 2006). Consequently, the athletes eventually became less likely to ask for help. Similar to the idea of the sport ethic, Brown (2014) describes a heavily influential "sports culture" that many athletes associate with

which includes expectations of strength, stability, and mental toughness. As a result, athletes may be more likely to avoid disclosing their internal struggles to those around them in fear of negative consequences, such as being rejected by coaches or teammates.

Accessibility to Mental Health Services

Sudano and Miles (2017) conducted a study that surveyed 127 head athletic trainers at various NCAA Division I universities in which they were asked a series of questions regarding the availability of mental health services for athletes at their schools. The researchers found that 72% of the participants reported counseling services of athletes took place in counseling center settings while more than half (57.3%) reported that they believed these services would be more beneficial if they were provided to athletes onsite (e.g., in a training room). Additionally, fewer than half (43%) of the 127 institutions' head athletic trainers indicated that their universities use screening instruments to assess for mental health-related concerns in their athletes (Sudano & Miles, 2017). Contrary to this finding, however, Way et al. (2020) conducted a study with 230 NCAA Division I athletes (80.4% were female and 19.6% were male) that found more than twothirds of the sample (69.1%) reported that they were asked about their mental health in some way during their pre-participation screening process. Although these results indicate that mental health screening in athletes may be increasing, there still remains a number of institutions that have yet to implement these procedures and processes into the pre-participation screening of their athletes. Furthermore, LeViness et al. (2018) found that only 29 out of 571 counseling center administrators representing different university institutions across the country indicated they had counselors embedded within their athletic departments. Therefore, location of these services and ease of accessibility may be important in determining whether or not an athlete decides to seek out help. For example, Cox et al. (2017) recruited 950 Division I athletes (34.4%

were male and 65.5% were female) and determined that more than a quarter (25.7%) of them did not know where or how to access mental health services at their university. Additionally, the researchers found that 44.5% of the athlete participants reported not receiving any mental health education from their athletic department (Cox et al., 2017), resulting in another help-seeking barrier for athletes.

Hegemonic Masculinity

"How can men, as a group, be so audible, so visible, and in such positions of power in society and yet, as individuals, feel so disempowered and experience vulnerability and inner pain that remain silent and invisible?" (Addis, 2011, p. 11). As illustrated by this quote, there is a certain irony behind how men have been socialized to act and behave. They have historically been recognized as the dominant, protective, assertive, and outspoken figures in our society until it comes to asking for help in which they are then taught to be quiet, push it to the side, and forget about it. Consequently, many men do not reach out for professional help for their mental health struggles.

Yousaf et al. (2015) found that men's masculinity ideals are a critical barrier for male athletes in seeking out professional psychological help. These traditional masculine ideals are defined by stoicism, competitiveness, dominance, and aggression (Pappas, 2019), characteristics that inhibit help-seeking behavior. Yousaf et al. (2015) utilized a revised version of the Male Role Norms Inventory to discover that "men's ideal level of hegemonic masculinity is significantly higher than women's ideal level of hegemonic masculinity in men" (p. 236). As the results of the study indicated, men scored lower on the Inventory of Attitudes toward Seeking Mental Health Services (IASMHS), meaning that they maintain more negative attitudes toward help-seeking than women. There is a strong association between masculinity ideals and help-

seeking behavior that suggests men's ideals and beliefs on how they think men should act and behave play a significant role in how they feel about seeking out professional help. Similar to their findings, Berger et al. (2013) discovered that men who adhere more to masculine norms tend to have more negative reactions toward any type of professional help-seeking, including taking medication and using psychotherapy. The researchers examined 85 male participants ranging from 19 to 77 years old and were asked to complete a series of questionnaires to measure their reactions to different mental health labels, their preferences for help-seeking, and whether or not they would react differently to different sources of help-seeking advice. As the researchers put it, male participants appeared to be "largely ambivalent" (p. 441) toward help-seeking in general with more negative attitudes toward taking medication than therapy. However, opinions on attending therapy ranged from "weak" to "ambivalent" at best (Berger et al., 2013). Thus, men do not feel very positive about even their preferred method of help-seeking which may explain why they struggle with reaching out for professional help.

DeLenardo and Terrion (2014) conducted a qualitative study on opinions and attitudes about mental illness-related stigma and help-seeking behaviors in male student-athletes. The researchers recruited eight male football players from a large university. One of the recurring themes that emerged in the interviews with the participants was that of masculinity and toughness. For example, one athlete mentioned how traditional masculine ideals and the "suck it up" mentality of what is known as the "pain principle" are introduced to young boys early on in their childhoods (DeLenardo & Terrion, 2014). Sabo (1988) defines the pain principle as one where boys are taught and socialized to believe that, in order to be a "real man", they must not allow pain to slow them down. In addition to the influence of the pain principle on male athletes, DeLenardo and Terrion (2014) noted that many of the participants reported attempting to mask

up anything that may be perceived as a "weakness" to those around them. More specifically, one athlete suggested taking a lot of painkillers just to be able to play while another one reported intentionally hiding concussion-like symptoms from athletic trainers (DeLenardo & Terrion, 2014). These types of behaviors may be translated from physical injuries to mental health concerns as well. For instance, instead of an athlete receiving professional help for mental illness, they may prefer to play through it or find a similar type of coping strategy (e.g., substance use) to mask their struggles out of a fear of being perceived as "weak" by others. Finally, DeLenardo and Terrion (2014) discovered that even if the participants wanted to seek out professional help for their mental health concerns, they felt they would not be supported. As one participant put it; "all that is important for coaches or people at this school is if we perform: perform on the football field and perform at school" (DeLenardo & Terrion, 2014, p. 52).

Purpose

While previous research has begun to analyze mental health service utilization and availability for collegiate athletes from the vantage points of administrators (Cannole et al., 2014), athletic departments (Kornspan & Duve, 2006; Voight & Callaghan, 2001), and university athletics and counseling center websites (Hayden et al., 2013), very few studies have explored these topics from a practitioners' perspective. More specifically, only one study to date has explored practitioners' viewpoints and experiences working with collegiate athletes and their access to mental health services (Schlimmer & Chin, 2019). As Way (2021) suggests, the benefits of examining such perspectives "could be an untapped source of information regarding the mental health needs of student-athletes and the extent to which these needs are currently being met" (p. 2). Thus, the current study expands on previous research by examining the perspectives of those who work most closely with male athletes, the practitioners. Through

exploring the experiences of these practitioners, we are able to better understand what strategies can be undertaken to increase accessibility to support services for male collegiate athletes.

Accordingly, the following research questions were posed, (1) what are the experiences of licensed practitioners working with male Division I athletes suffering with mental health-related concerns, and (2) what steps can be taken to help male Division I athletes more easily access professional psychological help services?

APPENDIX B

EMAIL SCRIPT

Dear [insert name],

My name is Nicole Vana and I am a second year graduate student at Georgia Southern University pursuing my Master's degree in Sport and Exercise Psychology. I am currently in the process of recruiting participants for my thesis research which is focused on overcoming help-seeking barriers for male Division I student-athletes with mental health-related concerns. In order to be eligible to participate in this study, you must meet each of the following criteria:

- You maintain a current licensure in counseling or psychology in their state of employment
- You hold an active Certified Mental Performance Consultant (CMPC) status
- You have a minimum of one year direct experience working with NCAA division I male student-athletes

If you meet the criteria above and are interested in completing a 30-60 minute Zoom interview or have any questions regarding the study, you can contact me at 402-708-1680 (cell) or nv01434@georgiasouthern.edu or my research advisor, Dr. Megan Byrd, at 912.478.2274 or mmbyrd@georgiasouthern.edu.

Thank you for your time, Nicole

APPENDIX C

LISTSERV SCRIPT

Hello all,

My name is Nicole Vana and I am a second year graduate student at Georgia Southern University pursuing my Master's degree in Sport and Exercise Psychology. I am currently in the process of recruiting participants for my thesis research which is focused on overcoming help-seeking barriers for male Division I student-athletes with mental health-related concerns. In order to be eligible to participate in this study, you must meet each of the following criteria:

- Must maintain a licensure in counseling or psychology
- Must currently be CMPC certified
- Must have a minimum of one year direct experience working with NCAA division I male student-athletes

If you meet the criteria above and are interested in completing a 30-60 minute Zoom interview or have any questions regarding the study, you can contact me at 402-708-1680 (cell) or nv01434@georgiasouthern.edu my research advisor, Dr. Megan Byrd, at 912.478.2274 or mmbyrd@georgiasouthern.edu.

Thank you for your time, Nicole

APPENDIX D

INFORMED CONSENT

Informed Consent for

Examining Practitioners' Perspectives on Access to Professional Psychological Help for Division I Male Athletes

- 1. This research is being conducted by Nicole Vana, a Master's student in the sport and exercise psychology program at Georgia Southern University, under the supervision of Dr. Megan Byrd, a faculty member at Georgia Southern University. This research is being conducted to fulfill thesis requirements towards obtaining a Master's degree.
- 2. Purpose of the study: The purpose of this research is to explore practitioners' experiences working with Division I male student-athletes experiencing mental health-related concerns to obtain a better understanding of how current help-seeking barriers can be overcome.
- 3. Procedures to be followed: Participation in this research will include voluntary completion of a single 30-45 minute interview via Zoom. After the researcher completes analysis, you will be sent the interview transcript and review the researcher's interpretations of your responses. This process is called member checking and is a method used to enhance the trustworthiness of the data.
- 4. Discomforts and risks: There is minimal discomfort and risk involved with the participation in this study. There is a small risk of loss of confidentiality as the interview will be conducted through Zoom. The researcher is careful to ensure that the information you voluntarily provide is as secure as possible; however, you must be aware that transmissions over the Internet cannot be guaranteed to be completely secure. Your confidentiality will be maintained to the degree permitted by the technology being used. You will be subject to the privacy policy of Zoom. To prevent a breach of confidentiality, the researcher will use the passcode and waiting room features on Zoom. You will be required to enter a passcode before joining the meeting, preventing uninvited individuals from joining the meeting. The waiting room feature requires the host of the meeting, the researcher, to admit you into the meeting, ensuring you and the researcher will be the only people in the meeting. Another potential small risk is the discomfort of sharing your experiences working with male athletes who have experienced a range of mental health concerns.

5. Benefits:

- a. The benefits to you as a participant include the opportunity to share your personal experiences working with Division I male athletes.
- b. The benefits to society include a better understanding of how current barriers can be overcome for male athletes who are suffering from mental health struggles.

- 6. Duration/time required from the participant: The interview is designed to last approximately 30-60 minutes. The member checking process may vary but will take approximately 20-30 minutes.
- 7. Statement of confidentiality: Only the researcher and her committee will have access to your information. Your information will be secured in a password protected file on a password protected computer. Interview materials will be deidentified and when the results are published or discussed in conferences, no information will be included that would reveal your identity. After three years, all data will be deleted.
- 8. Future use of data: Deidentified or coded data from this study will be destroyed after a three-year period. You will not be identified by name in the data set or any reports using information obtained from this study, and your confidentiality as a participant in this study will remain secure. Subsequent use of records and data within the three-year period will be subject to standard data use policies which protect the anonymity of individuals and institutions.
- 9. Right to ask questions: You have the right to ask questions and have those questions answered. If you have questions about this study, please contact the researcher or the researcher's faculty advisor, Dr. Megan Byrd whose contact information is located at the end of the informed consent. For questions concerning your rights as a research participant, contact Georgia Southern University Institutional Review Board at 912-478-5465 or irb@georgiasouthern.edu.
- 10. Voluntary participation: Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary. You have the right to choose not to participate in this study. If you consent to participate in this study and later decide you do not want to participate further, you may withdraw your consent at any time without penalty. If you would like to withdraw your participation at any time, please inform the researcher listed in this consent form.
- 11. Penalty: There is no penalty for deciding not to participate in the study. You may decide at any time you don't want to participate further and may withdraw without penalty or retribution.
- 12. All information will be treated confidentially. There is one exception to confidentiality that we need to make you aware of. In certain research studies, it is our ethical responsibility to report situations of child or elder abuse, child or elder neglect, or any life-threatening situation to appropriate authorities. However, we are not seeking this type of information in our study nor will you be asked questions about these issues.

You will be given a copy of this consent form to keep for your records. This project has been reviewed and approved by the GS Institutional Review Board under tracking number H21425.

Title of Project: Examining Practitioners' Perspectives on Access to Professional Psychological Help for Division I Male Athletes

Principal Investigator: Nicole Vana, nv01434@georgiasouthern.edu

Research Advisor: Dr. Megan Byrd, Hollis Building 1103B P.O. Box 8076 Statesboro, GA 30460,

912.478.2274, mmbyrd@georgiasouthern.edu

Please select an option below to indicate whether or not you agree to participate in this research:

- Yes, I read the terms above and consent to participate in this research.
- No, I do not consent to participate in this research.

APPENDIX E

INTERVIEW GUIDE

Initial Questions - Rapport Building

- 1. What initially got you interested in the field of sport psychology?
- 2. What certifications and licensures do you currently have?
- 3. Could you describe to me what type of setting you work in?
- 4. Tell me about what your general responsibilities as a practitioner consists of?

Questions Assessing Experiences Working with Division I Male Athletes

- 1. How long have you been working with Division I male athletes for?
- 2. What percentage of your current client-athletes identify as male?
- 3. In your time working in collegiate athletics, what percentage of your overall client-athletes identify as male?
- 4. Are your male client-athletes typically self-referrals or referred by somebody else to come and see you?
 - a. If not self-referred, who are the most common sources of referral for your male client-athletes?
- 5. On average, how many sessions does a male client-athlete come and see you for?
- 6. What clinical and/or subclinical mental health-related concerns do male athletes generally come to you for?

Questions Assessing what Strategies Can Be Taken to Help Division I Male Athletes More Easily Access Support Services

- 1. What help-seeking barriers do you perceive are the most prevalent for Division I male athletes?
- 2. What specific steps are currently being taken at your university to help male athletes more easily obtain access to the services that you provide?
- 3. If resources were unlimited, what strategies do you think would be the most effective to implement on campuses to help male athletes more easily access the services that you provide?

Wrap-up Questions - Final Comments and Demographics

- 1. Is there anything else you would like to add as it pertains to the objectives of this study?
- 2. If you feel comfortable responding, how do you identify in relation to your
 - a. Race?
 - b. Ethnicity?
 - c. Gender?